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Tuesday, June 7, 2011

--- On commencing at 10:48 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

The Board sits today in the matter of an application for an order granting leave to construct new 115 kV transmission lines at facilities in the municipality of Red Lake.

Goldcorp Canada Ltd. and Goldcorp Inc., acting jointly as Goldcorp, have filed an application with the Ontario Energy Board dated April 25th, 2011 under section 92 of the Ontario Energy Board.

Goldcorp is seeking an order of the Board granting leave to construct 10.7 kilometres of 115 kV single-circuit transmission line, a switch yard for purposes of connection to the Hydro One Networks facilities, and a 115 kV/44 kV transformer station at Goldcorp's Balmer Complex, all in the Municipality of Red Lake.

The application has been assigned Board File No. EB-2011-0106.

The Board issued a notice of application and hearing on April 29th, 2011.  The notice was served on all affected and interested parties, and was also published in the Northern Sun News and the Wawatay News.

The Board has received requests for and granted intervenor status to Hydro One Networks, the Independent Electricity System Operator and Lac Seul First Nation.

The purpose of today's proceeding is to hear a motion brought forward by Goldcorp on May 3rd, 2011 seeking an order granting leave to carry out civil engineering and other work at the proposed Balmer Complex TS site, and to clear and grub portions of the proposed right of way for the transmission line prior to the Board rendering its decision on the leave to construct application.

The relief sought in this motion is the same as the relief sought in a motion that was filed by Goldcorp at the same time as its application.

Goldcorp had requested that the Board grant an ex parte order in that case, and the Board denied the motion due to its inability at the time to ascertain if any interested parties would be adversely affected.

My name is Ken Quesnelle and I will be presiding over today's proceeding.  With me on the Panel is Board member Marika Hare, as well as Board member and Board Vice-Chair Cynthia Chaplin.  I will take appearances now, please.
Appearances:

MR. BLUE:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Ian Blue.  I appear as counsel for Goldcorp.  With me is Mr. Andrew Moshoian, who is the general counsel of Goldcorp in house.  On my right is Ms. Kathi Litt, who is my advisor.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Blue.  Mr. Blue, we have microphones and if -- for the sake of the court reporter, and it is fine to remain seated so that the mic picks you up better in future.  I think you were able to transcribe that, Reporter?  Yes, thank you.

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  Sitting behind me --


MR. QUESNELLE:  The green button, I think, Mr. Blue.

MR. BLUE:  Sitting behind me, Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, on the Board's left is Mr. Colin Webster of Goldcorp and Mr. Craig Prewett on the Board's -- on the other side, is from SNC Lavalin, who is our engineering -- or is Goldcorp's engineering consultant.  Thank you, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Blue.  Other appearances?

MR. LEITCH:  Good morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The microphone in front of you, sir.

MR. LEITCH:  I pushed it.  It doesn't go on?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Try it now.

MR. LEITCH:  Oh, there it is.  I see.  It's not the button itself.  It is to the left.  My name is David Leitch.  I'm a lawyer.  I work with the firm of Keshen Major, which represents Lac Seul First Nation.

I'm accompanied this morning by Yana Sobiski, S-O-B-I-S-K-I.  Yana is spelled Y-A-N-A.  She is about to be called to the bar.  And behind me is Chris Angeconeb, who is a member of Lac Seul First Nation and the deponent in the affidavits you have before you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Leitch.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am Kristi Sebalj, Board counsel, and Rudra Mukherji is the case manager for this file.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.

Any preliminary matters, Mr. Blue or Mr. Leitch, that we need to discuss?

MR. BLUE:  No, thank you, sir.  I have the witnesses in the appropriate place, and only after ask that they be sworn and we proceed.
Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Leitch?

MR. LEITCH:  Well, Mr. Blue knows there is a jurisdictional issue that has been raised.  I don't know - I have spoken to Ms. Sebalj about that - how you would like to proceed.  It would seem to me that a jurisdictional issue should be addressed first.  It makes sense, but we may, I think, want to be sure that we hear the witnesses today.

So I think my preference would be to have some estimate of how long it will take to argue the jurisdictional point, and then, if you want to retire and consider that, perhaps reserve, perhaps not, then we would proceed with the witnesses.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Blue.

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, how you handle issues at a hearing is strictly within the Board's complete discretion.  It is common in every proceeding, in court or in other boards where a question of jurisdiction has been raised, for the Board to reserve that to be argued with the rest of the case on the merits after the evidence has been heard.

And my submission is that is the way the Board should proceed this morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine, Mr. Blue.

Mr. Blue, we will hear your panel before proceeding any further, then.  We will hear them.  Are you ready to have your panel sworn?

MR. BLUE:  I am, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. LEITCH:  Can I just draw the Board's attention to the fact there is a document that may probably be referred to that is missing a page.  It is page 2 of a letter from the First Nation October 16th, I believe, 2010.  And I have copies for Mr. Blue and the Board.  Pardon me, October 26th, 2010.

MR. BLUE:  I am obliged to my friend.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just get a reference for our purposes as to where that letter -- is it filed in the application or was that part of the package that was provided?

MR. LEITCH:  I think it was filed in response to the application for intervention.  It was, yes.  There was a sort of a collection of correspondence.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, thank you.  We may actually want to mark that collection.
GOLDCORP RED LAKE GOLD MINES - PANEL 1

Angela Brooks, Sworn


Curtis C. Pedwell, Sworn


MR. LEITCH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Blue, is this Mr. Pedwell and Ms. Brooks?

MR. BLUE:  That is correct.

MR. LEITCH:  Thank you.
Examination by Mr. Blue:

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Pedwell, I want to start with you.  Do you have a copy of the application in front of you?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes, I do.

MR. BLUE:  Would you turn to Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 1?  And behind it, you will find your affidavit.

It's actually schedule 2.  Do you have that?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes, I do.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  Now, sir, have you read over your affidavit since it was filed?

MR. PEDWELL:  I have.

MR. BLUE:  Can you turn to page 2?  Do you have page 2, sir?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MR. BLUE:  So is that your signature?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes, it is.

MR. BLUE:  Are there any changes or alterations you wish to make in your affidavit?

MR. PEDWELL:  No.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  Do you adopt the contents of your affidavit as part of your evidence here today?

MR. PEDWELL:  I do.

MR. BLUE:  Now, as to the whole of the application, Mr. Pedwell, do you adopt the parts, apart from the ESR and the CSA, as your evidence?

MR. PEDWELL:  I do, all parts involved in my area of expertise.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. LEITCH:  I just point out to the Board that the notice of motion states what material would be relied upon, and it is just the material that Mr. Blue referred to, Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 1.  The rest of the application is not mentioned, and I don't know why that is being referenced.

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, if we turn to the notice of motion, which is in the reference, and turn to page 5 of 6, after paragraph 11 there is a statement that states:
"The following evidence will be used at the hearing of the motion:  The affidavit of Curtis C. Pedwell, the affidavit of Angela Brooks, and the application herein."

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Blue.

MR. BLUE:  So Mr. Pedwell, again, apart from the ESR, apart from the consultation portion of the application, and apart from the CSA, do you adopt the written portions of the application and the diagrams as your evidence?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

Now, Ms. Brooks, can we go to tab 3 behind that -- schedule 3, behind that exhibit and tab?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. BLUE:  Do you see your affidavit?

MS. BROOKS:  I do.

MR. BLUE:  And it was sworn April 14th?

MS. BROOKS:  That's right.

MR. BLUE:  And would you turn to the final page?

MS. BROOKS:  I have it.

MR. BLUE:  And is that your signature?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, it is.

MR. BLUE:  Are there any corrections or alterations you wish to make?

MS. BROOKS:  There are two corrections.  The first, paragraph 6, the word "duty" should be changed to "study".

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

MS. BROOKS:  And in paragraph 11, that paragraph is now stale-dated.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  And why is it stale-dated?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, in that paragraph we stated we would be receiving MNR permits on or approximately April 26th, 2011, but that has now changed, mainly based on MNR's comments that they're not comfortable with the level of consultation with Lac Seul First Nation.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  Could you just briefly tell the Board what discussions you have had with MNR about consultation and about the availability of work permits for the clearing and grubbing and for the civil work at the Balmer complex?

MS. BROOKS:  Okay.  We had a meeting with MNR at their Red Lake office on April 19th, 2011 to discuss work permits and how we move forward.  And at that point we had comments from MNR on the ESR, and I submitted them to MNR, and they reviewed them and requested that we add in more information under the Aboriginal consultation heading.

I submitted those comments to MNR, the additional comments to MNR, prior to May 4th, and on May 4th had a telephone conversation with the MNR asking if they had had a chance to review those comments, in which they said they had not had a chance yet.

We had another telephone conversation on May 5th, 2011, again asking if they had a chance to review the comments, and they did not at that point.

On June 1st, 2011 we had another telephone conversation, and it was at that point that the MNR mentioned they would not be able to issue a work permit at this time because they were still not happy with the -- comfortable, sorry, with the level of consultation to Lac Seul First Nation, and they referred to a press release that was issued by Lac Seul First Nation to Goldcorp in February 2011.

MR. BLUE:  And what did that press release state?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, the press release was very general in nature, and it stated that Lac Seul did not support any of Goldcorp's operations or proposed developments.

MR. BLUE:  I'm showing you a copy of a document.  Can you identify it as a press release about which you were speaking?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, this is the press release.

MR. BLUE:  May that be the next exhibit, Mr. Chairman?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you have copies, Mr. Blue?

MR. BLUE:  Yes, we do.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Just as a matter of practice, Mr. Blue, if you could stay close to your mic.  It is very important for the court reporter to be able to -- so if you are distributing things, if you could return to the mic to provide your comments.

MS. SEBALJ:  Mark it as Exhibit KM1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.1:  PRESS RELEASE

MR. BLUE:  Just to be clear, Ms. Brooks, did the press release refer to the 115 kV line application?

MS. BROOKS:  No, it did not relate specifically to that.

MR. BLUE:  And so it was general in nature?

MS. BROOKS:  That's right.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

Now, do you have a document which is my letter of May 11th, 2011 to Ms. Kirsten Walli, secretary of the Ontario Energy Board, in front of you?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. BLUE:  I am going to refer to this.  Mr. Chairman, I have copies of that package.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Is this information, Mr. Blue, that is already on the record, or do you need an exhibit number?

MR. BLUE:  This is part of the -- this is the same information that Ms. Chaplin referred to and said to which we should give an exhibit number, and I second that motion.

MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  It's --


MR. BLUE:  So -- because we are going to refer to it.

MS. SEBALJ:  It is KM1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.2:  PACKAGE OF DOCUMENTS CONTAINING A COLLECTION OF E-MAILS AND LETTERS BETWEEN LAC SEUL NATION AND SNC-LAVALIN

MR. BLUE:  Now, while we're at it, there is one e-mail that was subsequently e-filed with the Board, and this is the e-mail dated August 24th, 2010.  Do you have a copy of that, Ms. Brooks?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I do.

MR. BLUE:  And we should hand that out and give it an exhibit number.

MS. SEBALJ:  It will be KM1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.3:  E-MAIL DATED 24 AUGUST 2010

MR. BLUE:  All right.  Ms. Brooks, would you identify, generally, what this package of material is?

MS. BROOKS:  This is a package.  It is a collection of e-mails and letters, some to Lac Seul Nation and some from SNC-Lavalin and some from Lac Seul Nation to SNC-Lavalin.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  Would you take us through it very quickly, because, Mr. Chairman, we're quite conscious of the Board's Yellow Falls decision.

MS. BROOKS:  Okay.  The first e-mail is dated June 21st, 2010.  It is to Chris Angeconeb.  This e-mail summarizes the 115 kV project and is requesting a community meeting with Lac Seul First Nation and a telephone conversation to set the date for this meeting.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

What is the next one?

MS. BROOKS:  Sorry.  The next e-mail is dated June 22nd, 2010.  This is to Sam Manitowabi of Lac Seul First Nation.  This e-mail indicates we haven't been successful in having any contact with Lac Seul and we would still like to schedule a community meeting in order that we can meet the needs of Lac Seul First Nation.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  Thank you.

And the next one is dated August 16th, 2010.

MS. BROOKS:  This is another e-mail to Chris Angeconeb of Lac Seul.  Again, this e-mail is requesting a meeting in Red Lake with Lac Seul on August 30th, 2010 or, alternatively, September 15th, 2010 to discuss the project.

MR. BLUE:  Did SNC-Lavalin or Goldcorp receive any responses to these e-mails?

MS. BROOKS:  No, we did not.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  I want to refer next to Exhibit KM.3 (sic), which is the August 24th e-mail.  Do you have that?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I do.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  What is important about that e-mail?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, this e-mail is, again, asking for a meeting date to be arranged with Lac Seul, and additionally asks if Lac Seul could recommend an archaeologist to conduct the archeology baseline work.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  And did you ever get a response to this e-mail?

MS. BROOKS:  No, we did not.

MR. BLUE:  The next one is a letter from SNC-Lavalin to Lac Seul dated September 16th, 2010.

Could you tell us what the purpose of that letter was?

MS. BROOKS:  This letter was to Chief Clifford Bull and members of council informing them of the public information centre and the First Nations meeting, which was held in Red Lake on September 30th, 2010.

The letter also had the notice of commencement attached to it.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.  Now, the next letter in Exhibit KM.1 (sic) is dated November 18th.  Go past that, because that is out of sequence and go to the letter dated October 26th, 2010 from Lac Seul First Nation.

Do you have that?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I do.

MR. BLUE:  Could you just tell us what the Lac Seul First Nation letter said?

MS. BROOKS:  This letter, basically summarizing Lac Seul First Nation's proposed consultation plan for the 115 kV project.

MR. BLUE:  Right.  Does the letter agree to -- agree to meet?

MS. BROOKS:  It doesn't really in general agree to meet.  It just sets out their proposed plan.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  What steps did you take once you received this letter of October 26th from Lac Seul First Nation?

MS. BROOKS:  This letter was forwarded to Goldcorp.

MR. BLUE:  What is your understanding of what Goldcorp did with it?

MS. BROOKS:  Goldcorp responded via e-mail to Lac Seul, again requesting another meeting to discuss the contents of this letter.

MR. BLUE:  Was there any response to the Goldcorp's e-mails?

MS. BROOKS:  No, there wasn't.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  Let's go to your letter of November 18th, 2010, which precedes the Lac Seul letter in the package.

MS. BROOKS:  This letter is an acknowledgement of the Lac Seul letter that was dated October 26th, 2010, and attached to this letter was the project description.

MR. BLUE:  And in the final paragraph, could you tell us what you are saying there, or what Mary Shea was saying?

MS. BROOKS:  "Please do not hesitate to contact me if
you have any questions or require any additional information."

MR. BLUE:  Were there any requests for additional information?

MS. BROOKS:  No, there was not.

MR. BLUE:  Or any questions?

MS. BROOKS:  No.

MR. BLUE:  The next letter in the package is dated January 21st, 2011 from SNC-Lavalin to Lac Seul First Nations.  And what was the purpose of that letter?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, this letter was the formal response to the October 26th, 2010 letter.  It specifically addressed that letter.  And the purpose of this letter was to provide a project update and discuss a path forward that would hopefully meet the requirements of Lac Seul First Nation and Goldcorp.

The letter summarized the tangible benefits to Lac Seul if the project moves forward, and also summarized all of the project activities to date, including what baseline studies had already been completed.

The letter also suggested a number of steps forward where Lac Seul could be involved in the project, including an acknowledgement that the archeological assessment may require augmentation by Lac Seul First Nation.

MR. BLUE:  Where do you see that reference?

MS. BROOKS:  The page isn't noted.  In the section that is entitled "Possible Path Forward", there is another sentence on the page after that that says:
"We suggest the following steps, subject to your comment and agreement..."


MR. BLUE:  Yes, I see that.


MS. BROOKS:  Number 3:
"Develop a work plan for outstanding activities required by LSFN and include this work plan in the draft ESR."

And it goes on to say in the brackets:
"...the Stage 1/2 Archaeology Study, but which may require augmentation with traditional knowledge archaeology and may require fieldwork done by LSFN's archaeologist in concert with clearing and grubbing activities."


MR. BLUE:  Thank you.  Did you ever receive a response to the letter of January 21st, 2011?

MS. BROOKS:  No, we did not.

MR. BLUE:  Then there is a letter dated February 4th, 2011 from SNC-Lavalin to Lac Seul First Nation?

MS. BROOKS:  This letter acknowledges a meeting that did take place between Lac Seul and Goldcorp on January 25th, 2011, where various business opportunities were discussed.

It's Goldcorp's intention to retain OBISH to advance this business opportunity specifically for work on the proposed transmission line.

OBISH is a joint venture between Lac Seul First Nation and Moncrief Construction, of which 51 percent of this is Lac Seul First Nation and 49 percent is Moncrief Construction.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  Did you ever receive a response to this letter?

MS. BROOKS:  We did not.

MR. BLUE:  Apart from the meeting between Goldcorp and Lac Seul in Dryden to discuss business opportunities, did you ever have a consult -- did Lac Seul ever agree to a consultation meeting with you about the 115 kV line?

MS. BROOKS:  No, they did not.

MR. BLUE:  Now, the consultation material that we have been talking about in Exhibit KN.1 and KN.3, did you ever provide that to MNR?

MS. BROOKS:  MNR received the same consultation information that's contained in appendix G of the ESR, and I provided them some extra information in a separate comments matrix that we had completed for them.  And all of these e-mails were included in that.

MR. BLUE:  Now, in your meeting of June 4th about work permits, where they referred to the press release that we have marked as KN.1, I believe it is, or -- KN.1, thank you.  Did you make the point that you would try to consult with Lac Seul?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I did.

MR. BLUE:  Would you tell the Board about that?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, I explained to MNR, again, everything we had done to consult with Lac Seul First Nation.  We've gone over it lots of times, and MNR maintains and holds on to their opinion that they cannot move forward with a work permit until they are satisfied there's been meaningful consultation.

MR. BLUE:  And their basis -- what other bases have they given you for saying there has not been meaningful consultation, other than the press release in Exhibit KN.1?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, they also referred to a letter dated June 1st, 2011 where Lac Seul maintained that the archeological assessment that was conducted in October 2010 did not follow the new standards and guidelines that came out in January 2011.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We will mark this, as well.

MS. SEBALJ:  KM1.4.  Just for the record, Mr. Blue, it is M as in Mary, just so the transcript is clear.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.  I hope the court reporter will correct me on the transcript.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.4:  LETTER DATED JUNE 1, 2011.


MR. BLUE:  Ms. Brooks, in your June 4th conversation with MNR --


MR. LEITCH:  Was that June 1st or June 4th?

MS. BROOKS:  It was actually June 1st.

MR. LEITCH:  Thank you.

MR. BLUE:  But in your June 4th meeting with MNR, did you have any conversation with them about this proceeding; that is, this motion for leave to clear and grub and to do civil work before approval?

MS. BROOKS:  We didn't talk specifically about that.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  Did you talk about the OEB hearing?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, we talked about that.  They're aware of the hearing.  They are well aware of the hearing today, and they said that their decision on the work permit will be contingent on the decision of the Board based on the meeting today.  They were going to be looking at it very carefully when they make their decision.

MR. BLUE:  On another point altogether, Ms. Brooks, are there any archeological sites or cultural heritage resources on either the right of way or the Balmer transformer site?

MS. BROOKS:  No, there are not.

MR. BLUE:  And what is your basis for saying that?

MS. BROOKS:  That's based on the archeological assessment that was completed by Allyne Gliddon in October 2010.

MR. BLUE:  And subsequent to receiving Exhibit KM.4 (sic), have you received information from Ms. Gliddon about further information about the archeological assessment?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, we have an e-mail from her.  We received it yesterday.  She restated she is adamant there are no archeological sites on the right of way or the Balmer transformer station or at the Chukuni River crossing.

MR. BLUE:  Now, you say you have an e-mail from her.  I think you have an e-mail from me.

MS. BROOKS:  Sorry, yes.

MR. BLUE:  Yes, thank you.

MS. BROOKS:  Sorry.

MR. BLUE:  We are quite happy to make that -- to file that e-mail if anybody wants it.  We will have to make copies at the break.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Blue, can you -- what is the chain of that communication?  I am missing something here.

MR. BLUE:  Subsequent to receiving this letter, we wanted to double-check with Ms. Allyne Gliddon, who did the archeological assessment, about whether there were any heritage resources or -- heritage or cultural resources that would be impinged by what we were going to do, and she simply reiterated that there were absolutely none.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And that was to you, which then you forwarded to Ms. Brooks?

MR. BLUE:  We were in a meeting yesterday.  We phoned her in a meeting, and by the time that she phoned back the meeting had left, and I just conveyed the information.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I understand.  And the letter you are referring to, just to be clear?

MR. BLUE:  The letter I am referring to is Exhibit KM.4 (sic).

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. BLUE:  Now, one thing you should tell us, what are the constraints caused by nesting birds for the clearing and grubbing on the right of way, as we sit here today?

MS. BROOKS:  The constraints, the bird-nesting window, there are two different species that MNR enforces.  One is the whippoorwill, and that bird-nesting season runs from April 1st to July 31st.  There shall be no cutting permitted.


The other species of interest to MNR is the bald eagle, and there is a bald-eagle nest located close to the Chukuni River crossing.  The dates on that one run from April 1st to September 1st, and it encompasses a 1-kilometre exclusion zone around that nest, where there shall be no cutting until September 1st.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  Are there any constraints with respect to the civil work at the Balmer complex site?

MS. BROOKS:  No, there are no constraints on that site.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you, panel.  Would you now please answer the questions of my friends.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Leitch?

MR. LEITCH:  I wonder if I can --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Your microphone, Mr. Leitch.

MR. LEITCH:  Sorry.  I wonder if I can have a minute just to organize -- some of this is new.  We were not given some of this material.  If I could take a few minutes to organize the cross-examination?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Would 'til 11:30, five minutes, be fine, Mr. Leitch?

MR. LEITCH:  Thank you very much.

MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Chair, if we want to avoid more time, I could go ahead.  I have questions that are not related to what was just said, as well as what was -- what is related, so I can go ahead, unless the Panel wants to take a break, which of course --


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, that's fine.  But you can organize yourself while Ms. Sebalj is going ahead with her questions, Mr. Leitch?

MR. LEITCH:  I will do my best.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:

MS. SEBALJ:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Kristi Sebalj.  I am going to take you through some questions for matters that, in my view, are in the evidence, but I just wonder if you could help us so that we're abundantly clear.

The first set of questions relates to sort of generally the project description itself, and I will refer you to Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1.  And I also would like it if you could pull up the map at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 2, and so if you can just -- I doubt that you need to keep your finger on the first page, because all I am going to refer you to is the description of the three pieces of the project, which I am sure you are intimately familiar with, and then the map at Exhibit B, tab 2, section 2.

And I wondered if you could just take us through the proposal with reference to the map, just so that we're clear.  Do you have that in front of you?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes, I do.

MS. SEBALJ:  So as I understand it, the TS is at the Balmer complex, and the land there is owned entirely by Goldcorp; is that correct?

MR. PEDWELL:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And then the line runs south, if I have my orientation correct on this map, across the Chukuni River, and then west to the switching station.

And can you clarify for me who owns the land at the site of the switching station?

MR. PEDWELL:  A good portion is owned by Goldcorp.  There's some Crown land involved, as well as some privately-owned land.  It is still Crown land, but there are surface mineral rights on it.

MR. LEITCH:  Certain what?

MR. PEDWELL:  Surface mineral rights.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I will take you to another map in a moment that is in evidence to help us understand the land ownership, but I'm just trying to get a general gist of the project now.

And as I understand it, Ms. Brooks, the bald-eagle nest, the active bald-eagle nest, is the one that is shown as a red circle on that map, just south of the Chukuni River?

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And the yellow triangle is the inactive bald-eagle nest; is that correct?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And just so that I am clear with respect to the ownership and the transfer of ownership of the facilities, my understanding is the project will cost approximately $15 million; is that correct?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that it will be transferred in its entirety to Hydro One Networks Inc., save and except the transformer station.

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I don't want to go into great detail about costs, but I wondered, are there any implications in the cost recovery -- connection cost recovery agreement or whatever agreement you have with Hydro One?  Do you know whether there are ratepayer implications with respect to that transfer?

MR. PEDWELL:  I don't believe there are.

MS. SEBALJ:  And can you tell me on what basis...

MR. PEDWELL:  The CIA -- the CIA that Hydro One has completed indicate that there is no impact to the rate base, which is contained within this document.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, the CIA, that is with respect to physical impacts, is it not, on ratepayers?  I believe the question was more directed toward financial impacts, or at least that is the question I would have, sorry, financial...

MR. PEDWELL:  Okay.  Goldcorp is paying for the construction of the line in its entirety.  We are turning it over to Hydro One at no cost to Hydro One.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

So now on to related land matters.  At Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 1 -- and you don't need to turn it up.  I will quote it, and if you disagree with me then you can turn it up -- it says:
"Necessary land rights required are confined to easements that Goldcorp expects to receive from the Ministry of Natural Resources (MNR) by April 26th, 2011..."

Ms. Brooks has clarified that this morning:
"...over Crown lands in the Red Lake area and to temporary access rights.  No other land rights are needed to construct the proposed facilities."

And I think the easiest reference -- at least it was for me in the evidence -- was tab 6 of Exhibit B, schedule 9, which is basically at the very back of the application.  There is a map there, or a chart, depending on your view.  And it is the first -- the second page behind tab 6 -- or, sorry, behind tab 9.  I had that wrong.

Sorry, tab 6, schedule 9.  It shows tracts of land over which the line is proposed to travel.

Can you -- can someone please just take me through that document and explain -- and there are documents attached, as well, I know, that provide lists.  But I remain a little bit confused about whether any private landowners are impacted by the TS, the line or the switching station.

There seem to be a lot of tracts of land on the chart I am referring to.  So can you take us through that?

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, if I might, we do not have our -- we do not have Judy Kacan, who prepared this, with us.  But there is a point that Mr. Pedwell made, which is that there are some private landowners who have unpatented mining claims.  So the title to the land remains in the Crown, but they have what are called unpatented, non-fee-simple rights under The Mining Act on some of these lands.

These are surface rights that are inchoate at the present time.  They haven't done anything to develop mines.  That is where the private ownership or the private names come from.

MS. SEBALJ:  So all of the land over which this red line travels on the chart, then, is Crown land?

MR. BLUE:  Crown land or Goldcorp land.

MS. SEBALJ:  And the list which is on the page immediately after the chart I am referring to, which is entitled "2011 Powerline Schedule 'A'" is then a list of the mineral rights; is that correct?

MR. BLUE:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And behind what is in my application, there is a blue page, my version of the application.  There are a number of Service Ontario pages, which look to me to be Land Registry information.

So these are, then, the detailed -- detailed information with respect to those mineral claims?

MR. BLUE:  At the time that we filed, as of the time we filed the application.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And elsewhere in the evidence, as I understand it, there were -- as part of the consultation process, were the holders of these claims consulted?

MR. BLUE:  I will have to refer to that to Ms. Brooks.

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.  All of the landowners were consulted during the EA process.  And, to my knowledge, we didn't have any objections from any of the land holders.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Are there any easements required?  It's a bit of a trick question.  I suppose if you have no private landowners, you don't have any easements, but are there any easements required?  Can you just answer it for the record?

MS. BROOKS:  No.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

The negotiations then with the MNR, the right to access the land, the Crown land, will be done by way of permit?

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And there is no other Crown holder of the land other than MNR?

MS. BROOKS:  Right.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Sebalj, just on that point, I just want to make sure I understand.

Would it be MNR's purview, then, to ensure that the facilities are not going to infringe on the mineral rights of the people that they have agreements with?

MR. BLUE:  The usual way that happens is by way of negotiation between the holder of the mineral rights and the owner of the facility over which they go.

If there is a problem, then it is settled by the Mining Commission of Ontario.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So it is your position, then, that land interests, where the Board looks at land interest and the approval of these facilities in section 92, that the mineral rights on these lands does not fall into that category?

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  If there was a dispute between the holder of mineral rights and Goldcorp about whether Goldcorp could build its line across that land, the forum would be the Mining Commission.

Under the Mining Act, the Mining Commission can grant an easement over lands that contain mining rights.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Just so that I am clear, Mr. Pedwell, you gave me an answer with respect to -- I think I am clear on the TS.  I am now clear on the line itself, and then the switch yard, you had indicated that it is multiple Crown land -- sorry, I can't recall what you said, the ownership of the lands upon which the switch yard will be located.

MR. PEDWELL:  The switch yard would be contained within a Hydro One easement on that land, under the Transmission System Code.

MS. SEBALJ:  So it is a Hydro One easement over Crown land?

MR. PEDWELL:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Moving on to issues of timing and in-service date, the evidence indicates the planned in-service date for the project is Q4 2011.  Is that still the case?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  You filed a detailed construction schedule at Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2.

I have a couple of questions with respect to this.  The first is that projected section 92 approval is July 2011; is that correct?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I am just not finding what I have referred to here.

But I also note that for the line, the commencement of construction is listed as August 2011; is that correct?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And is that different than clearing and grubbing?

MR. PEDWELL:  It is.  We're taking into account the bird nesting, which goes till end of August -- end of July, sorry.

MS. SEBALJ:  So I think Ms. Brooks has indicated, and the evidence indicates, that the bald eagle restriction is the one-kilometre radius around the nests, and that is until September 1st; is that correct?

MS. BROOKS:  Right.

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so when you referred to construction here, are you referring to construction other than in that one-kilometre radius --


MR. PEDWELL:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  -- or in general?

MR. PEDWELL:  Other than the one-kilometre radius.

MS. SEBALJ:  And then with respect to the station, construction is indicated as May 2011.  Has that begun?

MR. PEDWELL:  No.

MS. SEBALJ:  And by "station", we mean the TS or the switch yard?  The TS?

MR. PEDWELL:  The TS, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So can you give us an indication of the impacts, if there are any, of a straight section 92 approval, if theoretically that approval could be provided by end of July?

MR. BLUE:  I'm sorry, I must have been sleeping.  Can I have that question again?

MS. SEBALJ:  I am just wondering if the witnesses can provide us with whether there would be any schedule impacts if the Board were able to - and this is a theoretical question - provide a decision on the section 92 approval by the end of July.

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes, there would be a significant impact.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you describe it?

MR. PEDWELL:  Currently, right now, we're at the end of a radial line.  We are capped at 56 K MVA from the Red Lake transformer station.

We need to have our line in place by the end of Q4 2011.  This will allow us to expand our operations, plus provide more reliable power in the area to the ratepayer.

MS. SEBALJ:  I guess my question is more specific, and that is you have indicated the construction of the line will start in August of 2011.

So I am assuming, if you have an approval from this Board prior to that, that you can commence construction on schedule?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.  Yes, we can.  I'm sorry, I must have misunderstood the question.

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So --


MR. PEDWELL:  Yes, we can.  I'm sorry, I must have misunderstood the question.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So just so that it is clear, a full decision on a section 92, assuming it was an approval, but a decision on a section 92 by July 30th would allow Goldcorp to meet its in-service date of Q4 2011.

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes, it would.

MS. SEBALJ:  And may I just ask that if -- if for whatever reason, either related to the Board approval process or otherwise, the Q4 2011 in-service date is not met, is there a contingency plan?

MR. PEDWELL:  We are looking at diesel generation for the interim.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I am also aware of another application to the Board with respect to a gas pipeline.  Is that related to power production, or is that something different entirely?

MR. PEDWELL:  Somewhat related to power as well.  It would give us the ability to cogen.

MR. LEITCH:  The ability to what?

MR. PEDWELL:  To cogen, gas cogen.

MS. SEBALJ:  So I had a few questions about seasonal restrictions.  I think many of them were answered in the examination-in-chief, but just let me make sure.

I think the record is now clear that there are no restrictions with respect to the construction of the transformer station; is that correct?

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Are there any MNR restrictions associated with the land upon which the proposed switch yard will be constructed?

MS. BROOKS:  To my knowledge, no.

MS. SEBALJ:  Are there any non-MNR restrictions?

MS. BROOKS:  No.

MS. SEBALJ:  And after the September 1st date, I am assuming at that point the biology is such that the bald eagles have left their nest, and so full construction can occur.  Is that the way it works?

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And as I understand the schedule that you provided, Ms. Brooks, as part of your affidavit, the bald-eagle schedule is sort of the common denominator.  In other words, all the other restrictions fit within the bald-eagle restriction.  There is no other restrictions that are broader than the bald-eagle restriction?

MS. BROOKS:  That's right.

MS. SEBALJ:  Now, there are other restrictions related to caribou, other breeding birds, and migrating birds.  Can you just describe for the Board where -- we know the bald eagle is the 1-kilometre radius, but do those restrictions relate to the entire line, the caribou and others?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, they do.  They relate to the entire area.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And so -- and that's -- so that is the entire line, and for the periods indicated in your affidavit.

MS. BROOKS:  That's right.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

It is not clear to me, having reviewed the ESR as best I could, whether the work contemplated in today's motion and the timing of that work was discussed as part of the EA process.

MS. BROOKS:  When the EA was written, we were still contemplating winter construction.  However, because we've had a number of setbacks related to Aboriginal consultation, we weren't able to complete the construction during the winter period.

MS. SEBALJ:  And is that then -- does that then make the ESR -- I don't know what the correct term would be, but incorrect, in need of an update?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, you don't -- the way the process works, you don't have to file.  It would be filed as an addendum.  You don't have to do that in this case.  This is -- it's something that is negotiated with MNR specifically.

MS. SEBALJ:  The timing.

MS. BROOKS:  That's right.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And so there is no notice issue with respect to the people who receive the ESR?

MS. BROOKS:  No, there's not.

MS. SEBALJ:  And when you say that you were originally planning to do winter, what has caused the change of plan?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, as I said, the major setback in the process has been the Aboriginal consultation, specifically with Lac Seul First Nation.  We weren't able to -- we didn't have any success in contacting them throughout the entire process, and as it went along, it was getting later and later.  We kept delaying release of the ESR, until it got to the point where we had to release it, even though we hadn't had a meeting with Lac Seul First Nation.  So when we knew when we were releasing the ESR in February 2011 that we had already missed the winter construction season.

MS. SEBALJ:  So that being winter 2010?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, winter 2010/2011.

MS. SEBALJ:  Are there any adjacent landowners that are potentially affected by the project?  I know I have talked about where the line itself and the TS and the switch yard are, but are there adjacent owners that are potentially impacted?  I think I saw reference to consulting with adjacent landowners.

MS. BROOKS:  There are some adjacent private landowners, but the line has been moved sufficiently away from them.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so no concerns were expressed in the consultation process?

MS. BROOKS:  No, there wasn't.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Can you describe -- and now I am referring, for the record, to Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1, where Goldcorp says:
"Leave to carry out civil engineering work at the proposed Balmer complex TS site and to clear and grub the right of way prior to the Board rendering its decision on the leave-to-construct application, without prejudice to the Board's determination of that application."

That is essentially the relief sought in today's motion.

Can you give us some detail around the terminology of "civil engineering work"?  There is a reference in the evidence, just so you know -- I have seen it -- at page 4 of that same area, paragraph 8.  Let me just....

MR. BLUE:  We agree that there is that reference.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry?  That is the reference?  Is that what you...?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, now I can't find my own reference.  I said paragraph 8, did I not?  But that paragraph doesn't actually say what I think it says.  I must have meant -- okay.  Tab 1, schedule 1.  Sorry, can you help me find your reference to what "civil engineering" means?

MR. BLUE:  The best reference that we can -- that comes to mind quickly...

MR. PEDWELL:  Paragraph 2(c), under "application".

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  That is where you ask for leave to carry out civil engineering work.  But I thought I saw an enumeration somewhere of what that meant, and I thought I had --


MR. BLUE:  We will find that for you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Can you just give me a layman's description of what "civil engineering work" means at the TS site?

MR. PEDWELL:  We would be looking at putting in foundations that would accommodate the transformers once they arrive.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that is the extent of the civil engineering work?  I thought I -- I recall a reference to erecting walls.

MR. BLUE:  It is broader than that.

MR. PEDWELL:  It was erecting walls, foundations.  No electrical installation would be carried out.

MS. SEBALJ:  My apologies.  I have now been pointed to the right section.  It was paragraph (a), but it is of your motion, where it says:
"Seeks to begin construction activities by doing the civil engineering work; i.e., grading, fencing, setting foundations, erecting walls, and installing grounding equipment."

Is that the extent of the civil engineering work?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  What is meant by clear and grub?  And that is with respect to the line.

MR. PEDWELL:  Clear and grub would be removing the trees and for -- in the 30-metre right of way section.

MS. SEBALJ:  As I understand your application, if the Board was to grant the relief sought in today's motion, but not ultimately grant the section 92 leave, that Goldcorp would at its own expense remove all of the structures and attempt to return the land to its original state.  Is that correct?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Now, I mean, obviously that is impossible to do when you have removed trees.

So we run into this issue of, if the Board were inclined to grant the relief sought, is the MNR aware of the relief that is being sought today and does the MNR consent to the relief being sought, because it would be the Crown lands that would be cleared and grubbed?

MS. BROOKS:  The clearing and grubbing cannot take place without the MNR work permit.

MS. SEBALJ:  As I understood your testimony this morning, the MNR has indicated that it's waiting for a Board determination on this issue?

MS. BROOKS:  They told me that they're going to be looking at the decision carefully and that it could affect their decision on whether or not to issue a work permit.

MS. SEBALJ:  If a work permit is ultimately issued, is there some form of agreement with the MNR with respect to damages in the event that the section 92 isn't ultimately granted?  In other words --


MR. BLUE:  This is obviously something that would have to be discussed with MNR when we go -- when they decide to issue the work permits.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  But there's been no discussions to date with respect to...

MS. BROOKS:  To date, no discussions.

MR. BLUE:  To date, no discussions, but Goldcorp would abide by any MNR protocol in that matter.

MS. SEBALJ:  Just to be abundantly clear, the MNR is aware that you are here today.  Are they aware of the conditional nature of any approval the Board would grant today?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, they are.

MS. SEBALJ:  Are there any approvals, other than the ESR, that have to be in place as a precondition to securing the MNR permits, other than -- I guess it is not the ESR.  It is the two class EAs.

MS. BROOKS:  There are some other permits that are outside of the ESR.

MS. SEBALJ:  Are any of those outstanding?

MS. BROOKS:  They're all pending.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so the -- I saw a reference to some of them, the river crossing, the aeronautical, that sort of thing.  So all of those are waiting for what?

MS. BROOKS:  They're not necessarily waiting for anything.  They're just in the process.  It just takes time for all of these to go through, but they aren't contingent on approval from the MNR or approval from the OEB.

MS. SEBALJ:  I see.  So do you have anywhere in the evidence, or otherwise, a listing of the permits that are outstanding and the dates, the expected completion dates, on those?

MR. BLUE:  We do not, but we can prepare a list very quickly.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just --


MR. BLUE:  We will give that an undertaking.

MS. SEBALJ:  -- give that an undertaking number?  It is JM1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JM1.1:  TO PREPARE SCHEDULE OF THE PERMITS OUTSTANDING AND EXPECTED COMPLETION DATES.

MS. SEBALJ:  So as I understand -- I am moving on to environmental now, and, again, you have answered many of the questions I had.  But as I understand it, the current status of the two approvals, that being the class EA for minor transmission projects and the class EA for resource stewardship and facility development -- I had understood from the evidence that the class EA for minor transmission facilities had been approved.

But can you just give me the current status of both of those?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, that is an approval from the Ministry of the Environment.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

MS. BROOKS:  And they've approved the EA.

The class EA for resource stewardship and facility development is the MNR class EA.  That's their process.  That's separate from the Environmental Act process.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  And so did the Ministry of Environment review the consultation on the project?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, they did.  They had no comments.  They had no issues whatsoever.

MS. SEBALJ:  I noticed, just out of curiosity, the ESR is marked "draft".  I think I got clarity on that in the evidence, is that it is marked "draft" at the time it is filed for the comment period.  Is that correct?

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And your evidence is that there was no bump-up request.  Is that still the case?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.  There have been no bump-up requests.

MR. LEITCH:  No, what, sorry?

MS. BROOKS:  Bump-up requests.

MS. SEBALJ:  And the period for making a bump-up request has lapsed; is that correct?

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Do you have any idea of timing with respect to approval of the class EA, the MNR -- the resource stewardship EA?

MS. BROOKS:  From what MNR has told me, they've completed their requirements under that class EA process.

However, even though they've completed their process, they're still not issuing a work permit, based on their concerns around the Aboriginal consultation.

MS. SEBALJ:  So, in other words, there is no -- there is no estimate as to timing?

MS. BROOKS:  Not at this time.

MS. SEBALJ:  I don't want to belabour this, but I notice that in the introduction of the environmental report there is a discussion about, when you get to the detailed design stage, there may be minor modifications or refinements and that that can launch you into a further consultation.

Has this happened?  Have you got to the detailed design stage?

MS. BROOKS:  We haven't -- are we there?  Okay.  As far as I understand, there haven't been any issues that would require a shifting of the line in either direction, either east or west.

MS. SEBALJ:  And if there was a modification that then required further consultation, I am assuming that there would be potential impacts to the schedule of the project?

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  I had questions about consultation, but those have all been addressed in your chief.

I believe those are all of Board Staff's questions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.
Questions by the Board:

MS. CHAPLIN:  I just have one question of clarification.

Ms. Brooks, could you turn to your table of seasonal restrictions in your affidavit?

MS. BROOKS:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I am just trying to understand.  If Goldcorp were granted the relief it seeks today and were -- it was okay to do clearing and grubbing, at least from the Ontario Energy Board Board's perspective, could any of that be done at this point until -- when is it when is it the earliest that could start, in any event?

MS. BROOKS:  The earliest that could start is August 1st.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So even if the relief -- so if the relief were granted in full here today, no clearing and grubbing could begin before August 1st?

MS. BROOKS:  No clearing and grubbing of the right of way.  The area of the transformer station, there is no issue, so construction could begin at that area.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And that also does not require any MNR permits, is that -- or does it?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, the MNR work permit applies to the entire area.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  But if it were to be granted, then there are none of these habitat-related --


MS. BROOKS:  There is no seasonal restrictions on the Balmer site.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just further to that, have you attempted to separate out for MNR purposes the two different areas, the Balmer site versus the right of way for the transmission, and seek work permits for the Balmer complex separately?

MS. BROOKS:  No.  We haven't done that to date, because up to this point -- up to my conversation with them on June 1st, we thought that we were going to be getting the work permit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. LEITCH:  I would like, if I could, propose that we take the lunch break at this time --


MR. BLUE:  [inaudible]


MR. LEITCH:  -- and come back here at -- Mr. Blue, I heard that, and I think you were warned not to be doing that [inaudible]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Leitch?  Could you turn your microphone on, Mr. Leitch?

MR. LEITCH:  I would like the opportunity to make sure that I am not -- it's been a very effective cross-examination by Ms. Sebalj.  I don't want to go over the same things.  And I would like an opportunity to speak to my client, who is behind me, about what points we would like to raise on cross-examination.

So I would -- some of this is very new.  We have heard about a conversation that Mr. Blue had on June 4th.  Ms. Brooks had a conversation on June 1st.

We put our recent conversations in affidavit form.  That wasn't done here this morning by Mr. Blue.  So I think we should be allowed some time to think about what cross-examination questions we would like to ask, and it would only speed up the process if we are given that opportunity.

[Board Panel confer]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Leitch, do you intend to call your witness immediately after your cross-examination?

MR. LEITCH:  I assume so...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Microphone, sorry, Mr. Leitch.

MR. LEITCH:  I think the affidavit is a complete affidavit.  I am not sure I am needing to call Mr. Angeconeb, but I think Mr. Blue told me he was intending to ask --


MR. QUESNELLE:  You'd be prepared to present your witness?

MR. LEITCH:  Oh, yes, of course.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  We will break until one o'clock.  We would like to just move this along quickly this afternoon.  So Mr. Leitch, if you could be prepared right at one o'clock and then be able to present your witness immediately afterwards, and Mr. Blue, allow for some cross-examination on the affidavit evidence, and Ms. Sebalj, and then we will see where we go from there.  We will take this one step at a time.

MR. LEITCH:  Thank you.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We will break until one o'clock.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:02 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:05 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good afternoon.  Please be seated.

Unless something came up over the lunch hour, Mr. Leitch...

MR. LEITCH:  I have asked for Mr. Blue's e-mail to Ms. Brooks to be entered into evidence.  I don't know if you have copies of it.  I think the Board was -- counsel was preparing copies.

MS. SEBALJ:  We have copies.  They're on their way.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. BLUE:  I have no objection, as long as we understand that it is confined to that one e-mail.  In other words, will not -- I will just leave it at that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We're receiving a hard copy of the document, so I think that is the extent to what is coming onto the record, obviously.

MR. BLUE:  I am waiving solicitor-client privilege with respect to that one letter, one e-mail only.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I understand your context now.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  It is KM1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.5:  ONE-PAGE E-MAIL DATED JUNE 6, 2011 FROM MR. BLUE to ms. brooks.

MS. SEBALJ:  And although it is marked page 1 of 2, there is only one page.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Leitch:


MR. LEITCH:  So, Ms. Brooks -- sorry, are we ready to proceed?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Witness panel ready?  Yes, go ahead, Mr. Leitch.  I believe you are on there, yes.

MR. LEITCH:  Yes, thank you.  You have to turn it off, as well, not just turn it off, but you have to then turn it off. I will get the hang of it

Ms. Brooks I was a little confused about when you last met with the MNR.  Let me tell you what I thought I heard.  I thought I heard you say you had telephone calls with them May 4th, May 5th, and then again June 1st.

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  Was there another conversation after that?

MS. BROOKS:  No.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  So this business about how they would have a look at it again once they saw the OEB's decision, that was discussed on June 1st, was it?

MS. BROOKS:  Correct.

MR. LEITCH:  Then help me, if you can, and it may just be my mistake and I am truly sorry if it is, but did something also happen on June 4th?

MS. BROOKS:  June 4th was on the weekend, was it not?

MR. LEITCH:  Yes, last Saturday.

MS. BROOKS:  No.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  Now, it has just been made an exhibit, the affidavit -- sorry, the e-mail that you received from Mr. Blue, and it is dated Monday, yesterday; correct?

MS. BROOKS:  Correct.

MR. LEITCH:  June 6th.  And this e-mail was sent to you?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  That's what it says.

Now, Goldcorp, if I am not mistaken, had received a letter from Lac Seul First Nation on June 1st --


MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MR. LEITCH:  -- raising its concerns, in particular, with respect to the new guidelines?

MS. BROOKS:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. LEITCH:  I am just reading it, but I hope you will agree with me that it doesn't appear that Mr. Blue raised that subject with Ms. Giddon?

MS. BROOKS:  No.  That's correct.

MR. LEITCH:  Ms. Gliddon, is that her name?

MS. BROOKS:  "Gliddon", yes.

MR. LEITCH:  Sorry.  There's been a reference several times to your letter to the band January 21st, 2011.

Yes, it is the last letter in the pile.  Was this marked as an exhibit, this pile of letters?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, it was.  It is KM1.2.

MR. LEITCH:  Thank you.  KM1.2, and it is the last letter.  And it is a response -- it says right on the first line that it is in response to the band's letter of October 26th, 2010; correct?

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MR. LEITCH:  Which was delivered apparently on November 8th, 2010.  And so we have here -- let me just see -- October, November, December, January.  We have four months, do we, between the date that you received -- your client, I guess -- do you work for Goldcorp or SNC?

MS. BROOKS:  SNC.

MR. LEITCH:  -- received the letter of October 26th and when it responded, your company responded.  That is just -- correct, isn't it?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, actually -- well, yeah.  It is actually less than three months, but there were responses prior to that.

MR. LEITCH:  Well, this is a very formal response, and it says, I think, it is the first formal response.

MS. BROOKS:  There was another letter that -- if I can find it.  Maybe it was an e-mail.  November 18th was the first acknowledgement of that October 26th letter, the one that the project description was attached to.

MR. LEITCH:  But if you look at the letter, it acknowledges it is the first formal receipt and acknowledgement.  That is the fourth paragraph.

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MR. LEITCH:  So some time has gone by here?

MS. BROOKS:  Some time went by, but there were phone calls and e-mails in between.

MR. LEITCH:  Right.  But the issues that were raised were not responded to until this letter comes; formally responded to, at least.

And when it comes, as has been pointed out by Mr. Blue, and you, as well -- my copy seems to be coming apart.  There was reference to the fact that here's the ESR; right?  Correct?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  And we've got 30 days now for a response; is that correct?

MS. BROOKS:  That's the typical -- yes, that's the period.

MR. LEITCH:  That's the period?

And is that the list of things -- does this letter not provide - let me just see here - a long list at the very end of things to be done in those 30 days?

MS. BROOKS:  No, I don't think -- that was not the intention of that.  Can you show me where it says that all of that has to be --


MR. LEITCH:  I will come to the point, because I don't think some of it may be all that relevant, but -- so if you look at -- unfortunately, this page isn't -- this letter isn't numbered.  But if you go to the second-to-last page?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  "We suggest the following steps subject to your comment and agreement...", and it follows.

MS. BROOKS:  Well, can I just point out this letter was submitted a month before the ESR was actually submitted?

MR. LEITCH:  That's right.  There is 30 days.  It is a 30-day window.

MS. BROOKS:  No, no, no.  The ESR was not submitted until February 2011.  This letter came out January 21st, 2011.

MR. LEITCH:  What day in February?  Anyway, it is 30 days from this letter, isn't it?

MR. BLUE:  Just a minute.  You asked a question:  What day in February?

MS. BROOKS:  I can't remember.  I would have to e-mail and find out.

MR. LEITCH:  Is it 30 days from this letter?

MS. BROOKS:  No.

MR. LEITCH:  It is 30 days from --


MS. BROOKS:  Thirty days from the time the EA is submitted.

MR. LEITCH:  All right, but it is 30 days.  And doesn't this letter say that you are hoping to start construction - this is the last page - initiate clearing and grubbing activities, which is the very activity we're talking about here, in March of 2011, early March, 2011; correct?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes.  That is what it says.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  So we're talking about a turnaround time of -- have it your way.  The letter is in February.  It is even less than a month until you want to start working on this clearing and grubbing.

Doesn't it say -- do you want to answer that, or is that just plain --


MR. BLUE:  What was the question?

MS. BROOKS:  What was the question?  I just thought you made a statement.

MR. LEITCH:  You're telling the band you want to start this work in early March 2011; correct?  That's what you would like to do.

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  And --


MS. BROOKS:  That's pending receipt of all permits.

MR. LEITCH:  That's right.  And it is also pending, if you go back to the second-last page:
"If community's in agreement..."

This is, let me see how many bullets down.  One, two, three, four, fifth bullet down:
"If community's in agreement, survey and clearing crews to include First Nation elders knowledgeable about the area to identify concerns in the field which may require special procedures or precautions.  This may include having an archaeologist check for resources in the field prior to clearing and grubbing."

Correct?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  That's what it says.  And isn't that the very topic that the band raised with you in its letter of June 1st, 2011?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes, it is.

MR. LEITCH:  Yes, it is.  And isn't that the very topic which Mr. Blue failed to discuss with Ms. Gliddon?

MS. BROOKS:  Are you referring to the new guidelines that came out in January?

MR. LEITCH:  Yes.

MS. BROOKS:  Well, the archeology report was completed in October 2010 and is not subject to the guidelines that came out in 2011.

MR. LEITCH:  That's your view.  If you have a look at the letter from the First Nation, it says that these came out in January of 20 -- or when did they come out?

MS. BROOKS:  January 2011.

MR. LEITCH:  Right.  So why wouldn't they apply?

MR. BLUE:  Because the report was done in October of 2010 --


MR. LEITCH:  Mr. Blue, you are not giving evidence, Mr. Blue --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Mr. Leitch.

MR. BLUE:  I am allowed to object.  I object to the question.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, if you could frame it that way, Mr. Blue, that would be helpful.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

MR. LEITCH:  What is the objection?

MR. BLUE:  The objection to the question is, it ignores the evidence just given that the report was completed in October 2010.  The guidelines came out in February 2011.  They do not apply.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Blue.

If you have argument on that, Mr. Leitch, we will be pleased to hear it.

MR. LEITCH:  Yes, well --


MR. QUESNELLE:  But the witness has given her answer.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  Thank you.

This ESR report that was released, whenever it was released, can we agree on what date it was released?

MS. BROOKS:  I believe it was towards the end of the month.

MR. LEITCH:  End of what month?

MS. BROOKS:  End of February.

MR. LEITCH:  End of February.  It contemplated winter construction, didn't it, winter clearing and grubbing?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.  That was still in the ESR.

MR. LEITCH:  Right.  And you were asked -- well, that is not going to be possible any more.  Ms. Sebalj pointed that out.  You have to do an update.  You have to go back.  And you said "no".

MS. BROOKS:  No, you don't -- under the process, you do not have to submit an addendum to the ESR if there is a schedule change, because it is not actually any of the content of the ESR that is changing.

MR. LEITCH:  What is your professional background, again?

MS. BROOKS:  I am a biologist.

MR. LEITCH:  You are a biologist.  I'm not.  I'm a lawyer.  I don't know nothing about this stuff.  But does it not make sense to you that doing construction in the winter is less disruptive of the environment?  You have a dormant environment.

MS. BROOKS:  I agree, yes.

MR. LEITCH:  So if you are doing it, not in the winter, but in the summer, you are having a potentially more destructive intervention.

MS. BROOKS:  There are ways to mitigate those potential impacts.

MR. LEITCH:  I am not asking you about mitigation, Ms. Brooks.  I am asking you, if you do it in the summer, rather than the winter, is it a more serious environmental consequence?

MR. QUESNELLE:  The Board is quite prepared to hear full answers, Mr. Leitch.  I think that the answer that the witness is about to receive would be informative to the Board.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  Sorry.

MS. BROOKS:  Clearing and grubbing in the summertime is subject to a number of seasonal restrictions, most of which is related to bird-nesting.  It is done outside of the bird-nesting window.

For this project in particular, as far as I am aware, the only clearing that is going to take place during the summer months is on the rocky ground, the higher ground.

As far as I understand, the clearing in the low-lying wet areas will take place once we get freeze-over in November/December, whenever that happens this year.

MR. LEITCH:  Let's talk about what clearing and grubbing is.  I think Mr. Pedwell answered the question.  Maybe you would be better qualified to answer the question, as a biologist.

MS. BROOKS:  Sure.

MR. LEITCH:  What is clearing and grubbing?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, clearing is, you're cutting the trees and the shrubs, and the grubbing is going over the ground with heavy equipment, removing the stumps, just in general clearing the land of all the woody debris.

MR. LEITCH:  So if you are clearing stumps, you are pulling out roots.

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  And these trees in this area are mostly spruce trees; correct?


MS. BROOKS:  Black spruce, yes.

MR. LEITCH:  Right.  And they have deep roots, don't they?

MS. BROOKS:  No, actually, on the contrary, in this area it is all shallow root system, because it is a very shallow soil over bedrock.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  I stand corrected.  But you are going to be pulling those roots outs of the ground; correct?


MS. BROOKS:  That's standard procedure, yes.

MR. LEITCH:  That is what grubbing is.

MS. BROOKS:  Correct.

MR. LEITCH:  And if you are doing that in the summertime, you are doing it when that forest -- pardon me -- is in a growth mode; correct?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  If you're doing it in the wintertime, it is dormant; correct?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  Now, I understand Mr. Blue is going to try to fix this problem for you, but isn't it true that you have no current arrangement with the MNR about returning that land to its natural state?

MS. BROOKS:  You mean, once the right of way has been cleared?

MR. LEITCH:  I'm talking about the situation that Ms. Sebalj talked about.  You get the motion granted that you want.  Then it turns out the Board decides, 'No, we're not going to grant this application.'  You have no current arrangement with MNR about returning that land to any state.

MS. BROOKS:  So just so I'm clear, so you mean if clearing of the grubbing -- clearing and grubbing takes place along the right of way, and then the Board decides not to issue the leave?

MR. LEITCH:  Correct.

MS. BROOKS:  No, at this point there is no agreement, but that is not something that is out of the question.

MR. LEITCH:  I didn't ask whether it was out of the question.  I am asking, do you have it now?

MS. BROOKS:  No, we don't.

MR. LEITCH:  And do you agree with Ms. -- she's a lawyer too.  Maybe she got it wrong.  Ms. Sebalj said, 'It is impossible.  You cut down all those trees, you can't return it to its natural state.'

MS. BROOKS:  Are you asking me if I agree with that?

MR. LEITCH:  Yes.

MS. BROOKS:  No, I don't agree with that.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  Why don't you agree with it?

MS. BROOKS:  Because forestry companies all over the country replant forests after they've been cut.  And there's no reason why it couldn't take place along this right of way.

MR. LEITCH:  It wouldn't be the same environment, though, would it?  It wouldn't be the same trees even, necessarily.  I don't mean the same trees, trees.  I mean the same kind of trees.

MS. BROOKS:  The same species?

MR. LEITCH:  Yes.

MS. BROOKS:  There would be a requirement to replant with species that are appropriate to the area.

MR. LEITCH:  You're not -- (inaudible) she was a biologist -- would you not expect that with different trees you might have different animals?

MS. BROOKS:  I don't really understand what you mean.

MR. LEITCH:  You're a biologist, and you don't understand what I mean?

MS. BROOKS:  Different trees would have different animals?  I don't know what you mean by that.

MR. LEITCH:  Well, some animals, maybe these passing -- what are they called?

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, before my friend goes on, I'm just noting that we seem to be going down some sort of a rat hole here.  I am having a hard time relating this to price, efficiency, availability, quality of electricity service.

MR. LEITCH:  Maybe you are, but my clients would be interested to know.  The caribou --


MS. BROOKS:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. LEITCH:  -- that might present a different environment for the caribou?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, the caribou are actually not anywhere in the vicinity of the right of way.  The habitat requirements for the caribou are actually not present.  Caribou require open, rocky areas with lichens on the rocks.  That's what they eat.  They don't eat leaves or grass, or any part of the trees.  They eat lichens exclusively.

And that habitat simply does not exist in the vicinity of the right of way.

MR. LEITCH:  Why are we talking about it, then, in your chart and in your affidavit?

MS. BROOKS:  Because the range of the woodland caribou happens to overlap the Red Lake area.  So we are required to include that, but in the ESR we state there is no caribou habitat within the right of way.

MR. LEITCH:  What about the effect on bald eagles, different trees?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, bald eagles typically nest in mature trees next to a body of water, whether it be a lake or a river; right?  There are nests in the vicinity of right of way along the Chukuni River.

MR. LEITCH:  There wouldn't be any there for quite some time in the area that you have been clearing grub, would there, because there would be no mature trees there for quite some time?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, the bald eagle would not typically use any area -- any of the trees in the right of way, because it is simply too far from a water body.

Now, the trees along the Chukuni River, those are the ones that they are currently utilizing and have utilized.  There are some inactive nests, as well as active nests.

MR. LEITCH:  You wouldn't be talking about them in your affidavit if there wasn't some intersection?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, exactly, yes.  We do know there is bald eagle nesting there.

MR. LEITCH:  So if you clear this area, there won't be any for some time?

MS. BROOKS:  In that 30-metre corridor, yes.  Well, there wouldn't be any at all, because there is a transmission line there.

MR. LEITCH:  That's assuming you get it.

MS. BROOKS:  Well, exactly.

MR. LEITCH:  What about the ground breeding birds that you refer to?

MS. BROOKS:  The whippoorwill?

MR. LEITCH:  I don't know.  You call them ground breeding birds.

MS. BROOKS:  Well, that's referring specifically to the whippoorwill.  I just completed a report for the MNR, a whippoorwill assessment of the corridor.

And based on our terrestrial assessment that was completed in June of 2010, there is no habitat.  There is no critical whippoorwill habitat or important habitat within the right of way.  And, in fact, the whippoorwill is not typically a northern bird, and individuals that are found as far north as Red Lake are considered to be at the northern extent of their range, which is why they are few and far between in the area.

MR. LEITCH:  But it is why you talk about them in your affidavit?

MS. BROOKS:  Well, that's correct.  Again, it is because the extent of their habitat comes up to the Red Lake area.

MR. LEITCH:  We're talking about environmental consequences, aren't we?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  Those are my questions, Mr. Quesnelle.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Leitch.  I believe that would be all for this panel.  Do you have any questions?  Do you want to go now, Ms. Hare?
Questions by the Board:

MS. HARE:  I just have a few questions.  I see that most of these letters, if not all of them, are from Ms. Shea.  Does she report to you?

MS. BROOKS:  No, we work together.  There's really no reporting to --


MS. HARE:  I am trying to understand your involvement in the project versus the fact that she wrote the letters.

MS. BROOKS:  Oh, okay.  Well, when these letters were written, Mary was taking more of a central role in the project, that aspect of it.  She has been since assigned to another project.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  The length of the transmission line is 10.7 kilometres.  What's the width?  What area are we talking about in terms of --


MS. BROOKS:  Thirty metres wide.

MS. HARE:  Thirty metres wide, okay.

Lastly, I was a bit confused with the statement you made about needing a work permit from MNR -- I understand that, but do you also not need an easement?  You talk about right of way.  Right of way normally means an easement.

MS. BROOKS:  Maybe I used right of way -- that is just typically how we talk about it.  It doesn't necessarily refer to an easement, but there are no easements required.

MS. HARE:  So there is nothing on title that...

MS. BROOKS:  No.

MR. BLUE:  I think that's right.  I believe that is right, but I am not the solicitor who is negotiating with MNR.

I think that under the Public Lands Act, it is pretty clear they don't give easements.  They give rights to use the Crown land.

MS. HARE:  So I am trying to understand if there are -- I know that we talked earlier, and there is an undertaking, about producing a chart with all of the permits that are required.

So maybe if it could be addressed in that undertaking, that would be helpful, to know whether or not it is just a work permit that is required or a work permit and some kind of --


MR. BLUE:  Easement agreement?

MS. HARE:  Yes, thank you.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Any re-direct, Mr. Blue?
Re-Examination by Mr. Blue:

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Pedwell, Ms. Sebalj asked you a question which I didn't understand, and I think she was asking you this question, and I hope I've got it right.

If the Board were to say to you, We'll get you a leave to construct approval, subject to other approvals, by the end of July, would you need this interim order in order to meet your schedule from fourth quarter 2011?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes, we would.  We do have a substantial amount of work to do on site.

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  And that is why you need the -- is that why you need the interim approval?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

Now, Ms. Brooks told Mr. Leitch that there would be no construction in low-lying areas until November freeze-up.

I just want you to tell the Board whether or not that would affect your schedule for being in service in 2011, if that was the case.

MR. PEDWELL:  No, it wouldn't.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.  And the gas pipeline alternative that Ms. Sebalj mentioned to you, if that were approved in a timely way, would that alleviate your need to have this line in service by fourth quarter 2011?

MR. PEDWELL:  No, it wouldn't.

MR. BLUE:  Why not?

MR. PEDWELL:  Because we would be able to offload some power off to natural gas heating, but we would still have to generate power, either diesel or gas, to meet our needs in the end of 2011, early 2012.

MR. BLUE:  What is the earliest date by which the gas pipeline could provide electricity service, if any?

MR. PEDWELL:  It is looking to be about two years out.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Pedwell, I just want to be sure that I understand what your testimony is on this point about the need for the interim relief.

Now, in answer to Mr. Blue, what I understand you to say is even if the Board were to ultimately grant a leave to construct at the end of July, that you would still need the interim relief to complete by your Q4 2011?

MR. PEDWELL:  Yes.  The largest portion of the project is the Balmer TS.  The line is actually fairly quick.  It is around 180 days, I believe, to put the transformer station in.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So your objective is to initiate the work on the TS site as soon as possible, and, hence, that's the particular need for the interim relief?

MR. PEDWELL:  Correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And that's completely on land that is owned by Goldcorp; is that correct?

MR. PEDWELL:  Correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And so the other requirements, you are still needing an MNR work permit to do that work.  Is that the only permit you need to do the work on the TS station site?

MS. BROOKS:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And at this point, that is -- the two are linked? been considered separately by MNR?

MS. BROOKS:  No, it hasn't.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And at this point that is the two are linked?  It hasn't been considered separately by MNR?

MS. BROOKS:  No, it hasn't.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think that is all from the Panel as far as questions go.  Mr. Leitch?

MR. BLUE:  May the panel be excused, sir?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  I thank the panel.  You are excused.  Thank you.

Mr. Leitch, do you have a witness that you would like to put forward -- well, if it is required.  We have affidavit evidence here.  If Mr. Blue is interested in --


MR. BLUE:  That's right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- testing on that, then we would ask you to put forward your witness.

MR. LEITCH:  He is here.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, okay.  If the panel could be excused, then we will have a new witness come.  Perhaps if you could introduce your...

MR. LEITCH:  His name is Chris Angeconeb.  It is spelled A-n-g-e-c-o-n-e-b.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is your microphone on, Mr. Leitch?

MR. LEITCH:  I'm sorry.  Chris Angeconeb, A-n-g-e-c-o-n-e-b.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
LAC SEUL FIRST NATION – PANEL 1


Christopher Angeconeb; Affirmed.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps you could just more formally introduce your -- as to his role in the -- with the interested party, or have him introduce himself as to -- so we just have a context as to the witness before us and his responsibilities and roles, Mr. Leitch.
Examination by Mr. Leitch:


MR. LEITCH:  I am happy to ask him to answer that question.

MR. ANGECONEB:  Okay.  Can you hear me?  My name again is Christopher Clayton James Angeconeb.  I am a Lac Seul band member, and I have been employed by Lac Seul in the role of lands and resources coordinator since the early part of 2009.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Blue, do you have questions on the affidavit evidence?

MR. BLUE:  I do.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Blue:

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Angeconeb, I do, thank you, sir.  I will try to speak into the microphone.

Now, sir, your affidavit was sworn on June the 3rd, and that is last Friday; is that correct?

MR. ANGECONEB:  That is.

MR. BLUE:  Right.  And, now, did you draft this affidavit, or did Mr. Leitch draft it for you?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I provided the information, and it was actually by Ms. Sobiski.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

Now, sir, in the affidavit, can you look at paragraph 4(a)?  And in that you say:
"To date, Lac Seul First Nation has not finalized its review of the environmental study report that Goldcorp's agent, SNC-Lavalin, has prepared for the proposed transmission line and continues to have outstanding consultation requirements with respect to this project."

Do you see that?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Yes, I do.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  So is it Lac Seul First Nation's position that this Board should not give the approval that it is seeking for early clearing and grubbing of the right-of-way in the civil work on the Balmer complex transformer station until that consultation is complete?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Could you rephrase that for me, sir?

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  Are you saying this Board should not allow Goldcorp to clear and grub the right-of-way or do the civil work on the Balmer transformer station until consultation with Lac Seul First Nations is complete?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Simply put, yes.

MR. BLUE:  I see.  Okay.  So is it Lac Seul First Nation's position that Goldcorp has not attempted to consult with it about this project?

MR. ANGECONEB:  The company, Goldcorp, has not responded adequately to our requests for consultation on this project.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  And let's go through Exhibit KM1.2.  Can Mr. Leitch give you a copy of it?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I have a copy.

MR. BLUE:  Can you give him your copy, please?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I have it.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  Now, sir, can we agree -- let's go to the first e-mail from Mary Shea dated January 21st, 2010.  Do you agree that you received that e-mail at the time?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Are you referring to the June 21, 2010?
MR. BLUE:  Yes.

MR. ANGECONEB:  Yes.

MR. BLUE:  Did you respond to it?

MR. ANGECONEB:  No.

MR. BLUE:  Why?  Why not?

MR. ANGECONEB:  It was entered into the internal discussions regarding the project.

MR. BLUE:  I beg your pardon?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Lac Seul undertakes internal discussions before responses.

MR. BLUE:  But you understand it is usually polite to respond to e-mails?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Blue, what are you trying to expose here, sorry?  What fact base does the Board need on that?

MR. BLUE:  I beg your pardon?

MR. QUESNELLE:  What is the facts that you are exposing on that?

MR. BLUE:  The fact I am exposing is that under normal business relations one responds to e-mails, one way or the other.  Do you agree with that, Mr. Angeconeb?

MR. ANGECONEB:  From a strictly corporate sense, I would have to agree, yes.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

Now, sir, if we go through this whole package of e-mails and letters, will you agree with me that the only response that Lac Seul made was the letter of October 26th, 2010 that we've received from Chief Clifford Bull?

MR. ANGECONEB:  After much deliberation, yes.

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  And you will agree with me that Lac Seul never --


MR. LEITCH:  [Inaudible]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Microphone.  Is it on?

MR. LEITCH:  I pushed it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  There it is.  Would you test?

MR. LEITCH:  It's not coming on.  Oh, there.  Now you're hearing me even though the light is not -- June 1st, 2011 letter also.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.  I am obliged to my friend.

Now, sir, do I find anywhere in the October 26th, 2010 a statement that Lac Seul would like to meet with Goldcorp to discuss any of the matters in the letter of October 26th, 2010?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Now, this is in KM1.2?

MR. BLUE:  Yes.

MR. ANGECONEB:  I note that Appendix A is referenced on the second page, isn't attached to this letter.  But I would deem that our willingness to meet is implicit in restating our positions for consultation.

MR. BLUE:  But do I see anywhere --


MR. ANGECONEB:  Is it explicit?  No.

MR. BLUE:  No.  Thank you.

Now, did in fact you ever agree to a meeting with Goldcorp to discuss -- or SNC to discuss the 115 kV application and the concerns that you had with the line?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I'm not recalling that I did, so I would have to say "no" on my own behalf.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  I am asking you on behalf of Lake (sic) Seul First Nations.

MR. ANGECONEB:  Lac Seul.  No.  It would have been entered into evidence had it been.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  Thank you.

And can you explain to the Board why, after a year of requests, or six months or eight months of requests for meeting with Lac Seul, you refused to meet with SNC-Lavalin or Goldcorp to discuss the concerns that the Lac Seul band had with this project?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I think it says quite succinctly in the very end of the letter that we were looking at, we were awaiting a formal response.

MR. BLUE:  Well, you got a formal -- you got a response on November 18th, 2010, didn't you, in the package?

MR. ANGECONEB:  My apologies.  I lost your question in re-reading the letter.  Could you restate that, please?

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  You told -- you just told me that you never got a response to your letter of October 26th, 2010, and I am contesting that.  I am showing you the letter of November 18th, 2010 from SNC-Lavalin that starts out, "Thank you for your letter dated October 26th, 2010", and concludes with the paragraph:
"... do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions or require additional information."


That was a response to your letter of October 26th, was it not?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I would agree that it is a response.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  The letter of January 21, 2011, which Mr. Leitch canvassed with Ms. Brooks, was also another response?

MR. ANGECONEB:  What was the date again?  Sorry.

MR. BLUE:  January 21, 2011.

MR. ANGECONEB:  Lac Seul First Nation actually deemed the January 21st, 2011 letter to be the formal response, because it incorporated components of consultation that needed to be discussed.

MR. BLUE:  All right, thank you.

And it would have been easy for members of the Lac Seul First Nations to meet with SNC and Goldcorp to discuss the 115 kV project, would it not?  You all live in the same area?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Well, approximately, yes.

MR. BLUE:  All right, thank you.

Now, sir, I just want to refer to the Exhibit KM1.3, and that's the e-mail of August the 24th, 2010.  Do you have that, sir?

MR. ANGECONEB:  The single sheet that was provided?

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  Do you have that?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Yes.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  And the point you made in your letter dated June 1st, 2011 that Mr. Leitch drew our attention to is that your consultant - that is, Lac Seul First Nation's archeological consultant - didn't have a chance to have input into the archeological study; is that correct?

MR. ANGECONEB:  No, I would say it is not.

MR. BLUE:  Oh.

MR. ANGECONEB:  The August 24th refers to a suggestion that a Lac Seul archeologist may be able to complete baseline work for the study.

MR. BLUE:  Right.

MR. ANGECONEB:  The issue that Lac Seul has, as documented in the correspondence, is that part of our consultation request was a third party review of the archeological report.  I would deem those to be completely different.

MR. BLUE:  Right.  But if Goldcorp had hired a Lac Seul-nominated archeologist, that would go a long way to meeting your concerns about the quality of the archeological study, would it not have?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Very likely, yes.

MR. BLUE:  So why didn't you respond to the August 24th e-mail and give Goldcorp the name of the archeological consultant you wanted to perform the archeological assessment?

MR. ANGECONEB:  We didn't want that person to be doing it under the terms.  We wanted a third party review.

MR. BLUE:  Okay, thank you, sir.

And you would agree with me that the June 1st, 2011 letter was the first time you mentioned a third party review to Goldcorp?

MR. ANGECONEB:  In the correspondence provided as evidence, yes.

MR. BLUE:  Okay, thank you.  Well, was there some other conversation where you told them that that we're not aware of?

MR. ANGECONEB:  That would be subject to confidentiality based on negotiations.

MR. BLUE:  I see.  Now, sir, let's look at Exhibit KM1.4.  This was the Lac Seul press release, the one that is dated -- I'm sorry -- the February 24th, 2011 -- I'm sorry, the March 8th Lac Seul press release.  Do you have that?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I have it in front of me.

MR. BLUE:  Right.  You would agree with me that is a general statement that you want to have a -- build a long-term relationship with Goldcorp, and I infer that you wanted to negotiate an impact benefits agreement with Goldcorp; is that fair?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Those have been the activities that Lac Seul has been engaged in for several years, yes.

MR. BLUE:  All right, thank you.

So there is no dispute that what you want from Goldcorp is an impact benefits agreement, revenue-sharing agreement, that is satisfactory to Lac Seul First Nation?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Apart from this endeavour, yes.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  And isn't it fair to say that you intentionally did not consult with Goldcorp on this project in order to cause MNR to withhold the permits, so this project could not go forward, to give yourself leverage in those negotiations?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I would tend to disagree.

MR. BLUE:  Pardon me?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I would disagree.

MR. BLUE:  Okay, thank you.

So let me ask you directly.  Is Lac Seul First Nations opposed to the Board granting a leave-to-construct permit for this line?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Without due consultation, yes.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  And consultation on what?  The comprehensive -- the impact benefits agreement?

MR. ANGECONEB:  No, as stated in the October 26th letter.

MR. BLUE:  All right, thank you.

So today, is the only concern that there has not been a third party assessment of the archeological assessment as part of the ESR?  That is what your letter of June 1st says.

MR. ANGECONEB:  It is a significant component that has several related archeological components that would contribute to it.

MR. BLUE:  Right.

MR. ANGECONEB:  But, in essence, yes.

MR. BLUE:  Do you have any reason to believe that that couldn't -- that third party review couldn't take place within a couple of weeks, if you and Goldcorp got together?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I believe selection of the third party consultant would be relatively quick.

The ground truthing that would be required involving the community members and the elders of the community may take longer than that period.

MR. BLUE:  Well, what would you say is the outside period that would be reasonable?

MR. ANGECONEB:  It depends on timing, scheduling, but I would say the entire alignment could be walked in conjunction with the elders and the community members by summer's end.

MR. BLUE:  By when?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Summer's end.

MR. BLUE:  Summer's end.  Okay, thank you.

By the way, Lac Seul has entered into a negotiation protocol with Goldcorp, has it not?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Yes.

MR. BLUE:  Is there anything confidential about that negotiation protocol?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I don't have it in front of me and I wouldn't be able to comment on it.  Most of our agreements do have confidentiality clauses.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you, Mr. Angeconeb.  You have been very helpful.

MR. ANGECONEB:  You're welcome.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Questions, Ms. Sebalj?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, I just had a couple of follow-up questions.

Mr. Blue asked you about Lac Seul First Nations, whether it is opposed to the project, and I believe your answer related to -- in your answer you referred to the lack of consultation.

I am wondering whether there is any formal position of Lac Seul First Nation with respect to the physical project itself, whether there is any opposition to the building of the TS and the line and the switch yard, knowing, of course, that your letter of October 26th, having read it, and understood that what you are requesting is a protocol for consultation, understanding that, but is there any position in particular on the line itself?

MR. ANGECONEB:  The line itself -- in terms of the physicalness of the transmission line, there are concerns for the lands that it crosses and what the historical or social or cultural uses may have been, who may or may not be interred there, what plant species and animal species reside there that we use.

With respect to the transformer substation, we understand that that would be on privately held land and, therefore, not part of the Crown's duty to consult.

Having said that, we also recognize that Goldcorp is in need of a substantial amount of electricity beyond what is capable of being supplied to it by the existing transmission network.

MS. SEBALJ:  And the implication of that last answer, you understand, and --


MR. ANGECONEB:  We understand that the power lines that are presently supplying the mine aren't capable of supporting the plans that they have for the mine, and we understand that as their plans develop their power needs will develop, and we will be seeing more projects of this nature.

MS. SEBALJ:  In the press release, which is Exhibit KM1.1, it struck me that the last two paragraphs before you get to background of Lac Seul First Nation, they say, for the record:
"As negotiations have not proven to be successful and no win-win solutions have been developed to date, LSFN does not support any of the GRLGN activities, Goldcorp activities, and operations at either the proposed Kuchinor (ph) project, the active mine operations, or other development properties."

The next paragraph, however, goes on to say:
"It is LSFN's objective to build a strong long-term relationship with Goldcorp, which, as with the treaty, is based upon mutual respect and sharing the economic benefits of the mineral wealth that is found within the LSFN traditional territories."

I guess those to me seemed like they were juxtaposed, those two paragraphs, and so I get from that that perhaps the history is not great, but there is -- that Lac Seul First Nation is willing to move forward and support the Goldcorp activities?  Is that what I should glean from those paragraphs?  Subject, of course, to the --


MR. ANGECONEB:  I think that would be the proper assessment, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And just so that the Panel understands, the reference to Appendix A, which is not attached to the October 26th letter -- this is the Lac Seul First Nation letter to SNC-Lavalin.  The last substantive part of that letter before Chief Bull's signature has four points.

Should the Board take that as -- that that would be the plan to move forward for Lac Seul First Nation with respect to this project?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I'm not recalling specifics, but I believe it detailed possible time lines and costs associated with the community consultation component.  Does that answer your question?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  I wasn't necessarily asking you to try to recall from memory what Appendix A said, but just those four points that are actually in the letter, one, two, three and four, whether that is basically a road map for consultation on a broad basis for Lac Seul First Nation on this project.

MR. ANGECONEB:  On this particular project --


MS. SEBALJ:  On this particular project.

MR. ANGECONEB:  -- at this particular point, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And you referred earlier to -- in response to me to there being potential issues with respect to your traditional lands and in the development of the right-of-way.

Has any representative of Lac Seul First Nation done a thorough review of the ESR, and so are you in a position to tell us where you might differ from what the conclusions are in the ESR?

MR. ANGECONEB:  I've had an opportunity to read it, but I am not qualified to act as a third-party reviewer.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that's essentially what you're suggesting here is a third-party independent review.

MR. ANGECONEB:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  I believe those are all of our questions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.

Mr. Leitch, do you have any...?

MR. LEITCH:  Just a moment, please.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

Mr. Leitch, we have a question for the Panel, which we will ask first.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I just want to make sure I understand your position.  When you talk about a third party to do the archeological assessment, Goldcorp did hire an independent consultant, didn't they?  I don't -- the person who did the archeological study --


MR. ANGECONEB:  Well, Ms. Gliddon is a consultant archaeologist.

MS. HARE:  And so what you were looking for was to hire somebody else to review her work?  Is that what you mean by a third party?

MR. ANGECONEB:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. LEITCH:  No, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I am just going to confer with the Panel for a minute.

[Board Panel confer]


MR. QUESNELLE:  The witness is excused.  Thank you very much.

MR. ANGECONEB:  Giche, miigwech, ndikid.

[Board Panel confer]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  The Panel has no further questions.  We're just wondering, at this point, Mr. Blue, are you prepared to make your submissions on your motion?

MR. BLUE:  Yes, I am, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. BLUE:  I wonder if I could just meet with Mr. Pedwell and Ms. Brooks for about five minutes.  Then I would be ready to go.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, why don't we take 15, and then we will finish up when we come back and complete the day --


MR. LEITCH:  May I ask a question?  How are we dealing with the jurisdictional issue?  Is that included in the submissions that you will be hearing?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Blue's brought this motion forward.  What is your -- the intent of addressing issues of jurisdiction, Mr. Blue?

MR. BLUE:  It is, but I am the respondent on the jurisdictional issue.  I am not -- so my suggestion would be that Mr. Leitch would go into jurisdictional issue.  I would make my submission-in-chief in the course of that.  I would respond to the jurisdictional issue.  He can then make his submission, and then I will have the final right of reply.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Leitch?

MR. LEITCH:  That would be fine, except that I wouldn't just deal with the jurisdictional issue then.  Wouldn't I have the opportunity at some point to also deal with your submissions-in-chief on the motion?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps, Mr. Blue, if you could go in-chief on the motion itself.  Then if we heard from you, Mr. Leitch, on the jurisdiction and your response --


MR. LEITCH:  Yes.  That would work.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- and the issue, and then reply, Mr. Blue.

MR. BLUE:  Then I will put my submissions on jurisdiction in reply.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Okay.  Let's break --


MS. SEBALJ:  Can I -- sorry, can I just interrupt briefly?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry, Ms. Sebalj.

MS. SEBALJ:  No, that's okay.

We also have submissions with respect to jurisdiction.  I have a hard time teasing out the jurisdictional argument from the ultimate argument with respect to our Board Staff's submissions on whether or not this -- the relief should be granted.

I will do my best to do that, but I just wanted to make sure I am in the queue to also -- probably after Mr. Leitch with respect to jurisdiction.

MR. LEITCH:  Can you just repeat what we're doing, then?  I am a little bit lost now.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Blue?

MR. BLUE:  My understanding is I am going to make my submissions on the merits of why the Board should grant the order that Goldcorp is seeking.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.

MR. BLUE:  Then Mr. Leitch will make his argument, submissions on the merits, plus his argument on jurisdiction.  Then Ms. Sebalj will do the same thing.  Then I will reply to them on all points, but especially on jurisdiction.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Leitch, seem satisfactory?

MR. LEITCH:  That sounds okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  That sounds okay.  We will see how it goes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's reconvene at 20 after 2:00.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:06 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:25 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

If I remember our schedule, Mr. Blue, I believe you are up first.

MR. BLUE:  I am more conscious of it than you are, sir.

Sir, Undertaking JM1.1 was to give a list of the additional permits outside the EA process that were required.  We have prepared that, and are ready to file it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Hare asked for an addition to that -- is that also included in this? -- just late this afternoon.  It was the idea of whether or not an easement per se was actually a requirement or was a work permit or expanded work permit.  I know it was to be added to the original undertaking.  But we can take this piecemeal if you prefer.

MR. BLUE:  Let's take them piecemeal.  I want to get you an accurate answer.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.  Okay.  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Blue:

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, I used to work as a parliamentary assistant to the government House Leader in Ottawa, and the first principle he told me was, never filibuster your own bill.

With that, the Board has Goldcorp's notice of motion.  I am not going to go through it in any detail, other than to say that the motion is for an order to be allowed to clear and grub the right-of-way and to do the civil work at the Balmer complex site in advance of leave to construct.

We are conscious that if the Board were disposed to grant that order it would make it conditional on obtaining a permit from MNR, and we accept that.

We understand that the Board would make it conditional on Goldcorp accepting all financial risk, and that there be no agreement by Goldcorp that there will be no risk to ratepayers.  In the event that the line is approved, we accept that.

The points I would make in support is that the interim relief we are seeking is a subsidiary -- a part of the relief that the Board would grant if it were to grant a section 92 leave to construct.  It is a subset of the activities.

Therefore, the Board has jurisdiction to grant it.  You may grant the full relief; you may grant partial relief.  So I submit that the Board has that jurisdiction.

Why should the Board grant it is very simple.  To meet the Q4 2011 schedule, the construction of the Balmer complex transmission station must start as soon as possible.

There is a construction crew on hold waiting for the Board's order, and it would start to immediately level the site, lay the foundations, build the walls, and have it ready to -- have the electricity facilities put in when the leave to construct is granted.

Our construction schedule is that that will take right until Q4 2011, and if we get the permission to go ahead only in July 31st, Mr. Pedwell has said that prejudices it.  To meet the schedule we need it right now.

What happens if we don't meet the schedule?  And the evidence on that is pretty clear.  Mr. Pedwell's testimony is that he would be bumping up against the load forecast at the end of Q4 2011.  If it is not there as he goes into 2012, then the inability to operate at full capacity in accordance with Goldcorp's development plan would not be met, and that means that it has adverse effects for the Red Lake economy.

Electrically, though, Mr. Angeconeb described it so accurately that we -- that Goldcorp, for all its four mine complexes, is obtaining electricity on 44 kV distribution lines, and that is servicing equipment that really requires higher voltage levels.

The result of that is it is wear and tear on the equipment.  It causes voltage flicker, which is really when people's TVs and lights brighten up and then go dim during a voltage flicker.  That is a source of complaint.  And also, what would happen is that Goldcorp would not be able to give up the utilization of the Red Lake transformer station and make room for a couple of other users that want to use that line.

So my submission is that allowing the -- granting this order is going to be good for the electricity system.  It is going to lead to more reliable service in the Red Lake area.  It is going to be economically beneficial, it is going to be good for customers, and it's going to be an enhancement and an improvement to the electricity system.  The sooner it is built, the better.

Now, if I look at -- if I look at what are required in order to let any project go forward, I say that Goldcorp has met it all.  We've established a need for the facilities.  There is no contrary evidence.  The need is supported by stakeholders in the Red Lake area.  The Town of -- the Municipality of Red Lake support it, and Rubicon Minerals Limited support it.  It's been conditionally approved by the ESO as -- IESO, I'm sorry.

And as I said before, they're going to increase capacity in the transmission system and improve the reliability of service in the Red Lake area.  And there are no -- you have heard no evidence of adverse customer impacts, and the project is fully compliant with all rules, codes, and licences, and we are working with Ontario -- Hydro One Networks on the transmission agreement.

Now, with respect to consultation, we have only Lac Seul First Nation coming before you and saying that consultation has been inadequate.  The evidence before you is that the ESR has been approved under the Environmental Assessment Act, who saw no difficulty with consultation.  The evidence before you is that since June 2010 Goldcorp has done its best to meet with Lac Seul First Nations to consult about the project, to hear its concerns, to get its input, to get its input into the archeological survey, and Lac Seul did not respond.

I asked Mr. Angeconeb why they didn't respond, and his answers to me started to go a little bit in circles.  I submit that you ought to find that from the OE -- I am not asking you to make a judgment about the consultation process, because that is not the Board's role, and the Board made that clear in the Yellow Falls case.  I am just simply asking you to find that Goldcorp, on the evidence before you, has made all reasonable efforts to consult with Lac Seul First Nations, but Lac Seul First Nations has not adequately responded.

Now, with respect to whether Goldcorp will agree to a third-party review, I submit that that is not an issue for this Board.  That is an issue for us to discuss with MNR and Lac Seul in the appropriate forum and should be no reason -- should not be something that you should make a finding upon.

Now, what is the test on an interim application?  I will analogize from the test one normally uses for interim applications elsewhere.

Have we made a prima facie case?  Based on the evidence before you, subject to the Lac Seul issue, I submit that Goldcorp has.  No one in the electricity industry is raising any concerns.

What is the balance of convenience?  Well, the balance of convenience is that if we maintain the status quo we are facing the risk of inadequate electricity service in Red Lake, possible lay-offs, and obstructing other users who want to get on the electricity system, like Rubicon, from being able to get electricity.

So I would say the balance of convenience would favour granting the order.

What is the obverse to that?  The obverse to that is we clear and grub a right of way.  A right of way, if you do not grant the leave to construct, you have heard evidence from Ms. Brooks that the right of way can be restored in accordance with MNR protocols.

And as to risk, Goldcorp is assuming all the risk.  For those reasons, I submit that you should grant this order.  Just let me check to see if I have missed anything else.

I just want to address the point of the Balmer transformer station complex.  Lac Seul has said, with respect to that, that it is not contesting the Balmer Complex transformer station because it does not have -- there is no duty to consult.

Ms. Brooks has said, with respect to it, that there were no archeological issues, no restrictions due to nesting birds or animals.  It is all on Goldcorp land.  There are no landowner issues.

So I submit that the Board can grant leave to do that, but I am not -- I am not asking you to bifurcate the request for early clearing and grubbing of the right of way from the transformer station, because we can do a lot of work on the clearing and grubbing starting at the beginning of August.

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, what was the last comment?

MR. BLUE:  We can do a lot of clearing and grubbing starting on the 1st of August.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Some more clarity on that point?  Ms. Chaplin?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Blue, I have a question about the Balmer transformer station.

The original application for leave to construct includes it, but I am curious whether or not it's your client's position that they require a leave to construct to do the work at the transformer station?

MR. BLUE:  I have looked at the definition of "power line" in the act, and it includes all facilities connected.  Let me just get my act.

MS. SEBALJ:  I actually have the definition right here.  It was going to be the first thing I referred to.

MR. BLUE:  What section is it?

MS. SEBALJ:  It's 89:
"'Electricity transmission line' means a line, transformers, plant or equipment used for conveying electricity at voltages higher than 50 kilovolts."


MR. BLUE:  That's the definition I was looking at, and it was my opinion that a leave to construct was required for it because of that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Thank you.  That is my question.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just further to that, then, Mr. Blue, under your interpretation of what is required, you have included it in the application as one of the facilities that are connected to the line.  But in the relief that you are seeking -- your client is seeking, they stopped short of putting the electrical apparatus in.  It is civil work.  It is foundations.  It is what have you.

It would bring it to the point where it may be in preparation work, but not actually constructing the electrical facilities as of yet.

MR. BLUE:  That's exactly right.  We do believe we need leave to construct to do that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And then if you need leave to construct to do that, why not until that point -- why do you -- does your client believe it needs interim leave to build something up to a point which isn't quite electrical equipment yet?

MR. BLUE:  Because the time it takes to do all of that work is from about the 1st of May until the end of December.

So if we waited for the leave to construct, we would have to start building it two or three months late, and it would not be ready until sometime in 2012.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think we may be at cross-purposes here, Mr. Blue.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The relief you are seeking, you are looking to conduct the civil work and laying foundations and what have you on the Balmer Complex lands.

If that brings you to a point where you are -- it is a possibility that you would have the full leave to construct at that point, is there not something to be gained for carrying on with that work, and why do you feel you need relief from the Board to be able to do the nature of that work on the Balmer Complex -- work of that nature?

MR. BLUE:  Simply because it was our judgment that we would be asking too much at that point.

In effect, we would be asking you to grant the application in advance of the IR process.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I am asking:  What is stopping your applicant from doing that civil work now, if it has -- we've got on the record here today, and it may be the first you have heard it - I'm not sure - but from Lac Seul that they have no concerns.  Their position is this is private lands, and also from Ms. Brooks --


MR. BLUE:  Simply because it is part of a power line and we need leave to construct to construct a power line from the Ontario Energy Board.  It is that simple.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Leitch.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Your microphone, Mr. Leitch.
Submissions by Mr. Leitch:

MR. LEITCH:  It is hard to go back to the beginning of this day.  We have heard so much evidence and I am sure your mind is thinking about that evidence, how to analyze it and how it fits with the regulatory regime that you are dealing with.

But as I said at the outset and as I would like to repeat now, there is a question as to whether or not this Board has the jurisdiction to grant the relief claimed.

And, of course, if the Board doesn't have that jurisdiction, then everything that we have heard today is irrelevant.  The Board must have jurisdiction.

And I say, on behalf of Lac Seul First Nation, that in making this argument, and it is clear from the documents that you have, Lac Seul First Nation doesn't wish to raise this argument to create obstacles.  It is making the argument, as a straightforward legal observation, that this Board does not have the jurisdiction to do what Goldcorp wants it to do, and that if it takes a different view and feels that it does have jurisdiction, the implications of that are very, very large not just for Lac Seul First Nation, but for really the whole province, because today we're talking about an application to construct a fairly short, as things go, transmission line.

But I ask you to think about, when you are exercising or not jurisdiction, much larger projects that could come before you.  Huge projects could come before you.  Hydro One projects could come before you, where Hydro One comes to this Board and says, We need to get going on this thing.  The whole province's economy depends on it.  We want to get an interim order allowing us to start construction before you, the Board, have determined the application under section 92.

So although it may appear - and I would like to emphasize this - that the Lac Seul First Nation is standing in the way, in some senses, by raising this argument, it does so for a very valid public policy and legal reason.

You are being asked to establish a precedent that you have not previously established.  There is no case law to support the position that Mr. Blue's client is taking of this Board.

He didn't go through - and I presume he will - his argument in response to the argument you are about to hear from me as to how you do not have the jurisdiction to do that.  But, you know, he is just here for Goldcorp, but you've got to understand that the issue before you is, in my respectful submission, much, much larger, and it has to do with whether or not this Board can, prior to doing the process that is laid out in your procedural order to determine whether or not the application for leave to construct should be granted under section 92, approve and issue an interim order allowing the construction to begin, because that's what is clearly -- I mean, there is no doubt on the record.  There is no attempt by Goldcorp for this -- their frankness is commendable.  There is no attempt to say this isn't construction.  This is construction.

And if I might refer you to -- I have copies here.  This is the class environmental assessment for minor transmission lines.  I don't know whether you have...

Maybe while Ms. Sobiski is preparing it -- she has copies for all of you.  It is page 4.2.  It is not a  copy -- I mean, it is a whole lot of paper to support one proposition.  Under the definition of "construction activities", found at 4.2 -- actually, it is page 4-2, and I am reading now:
"Construction activities.  The major operation in the construction of overhead transmission lines include the selective cutting of trees along the rights-of-way."

This is construction.  And as I say, I don't think Goldcorp is denying that part of it.

So where does this Board get the authority to grant interim orders?  Did you find it, Mr. Quesnelle?  It is at the bottom of page 4-2.  Ms. Sobiski will hand up copies shortly.

This Board is a creature of statute that has been held many times and, in any event, couldn't be disputed.  It receives its powers through the Ontario Energy Board Act.  This Board, like all other administrative tribunals, only has the powers conferred upon it by statute.

[Ms. Sobiski hands out document]


MR. LEITCH:  So take a look at that statute, that statute, which you have done hundreds of times.  That statute -- I am looking now at, first of all, section 19, the Board's powers to determine questions of law and fact.  Section 19 says:
"The Board has in all matters within its jurisdiction authority to hear and determine all questions of law and fact."

Then go down to article 21 -- section 21(2).  It says "Board's powers".  The whole of section 21 is Board's powers.  21(2) says:
"Subject to any other provision to the contrary in this or any other act, the Board shall not make an order under this or any other application until it has held a hearing after giving notice in such manner and to such persons as the Board may direct."


And what we're talking about then, if we move along to section 21 -- section 92, is an application for leave to construct.  The basic proposition is, straight out of 21(2), the Board cannot grant leave to construct without first holding a hearing unless -- because it starts this way -- subject to any provision to the contrary in this act or any other act.

Well, let's start with this act.  Does this act say that this Board can grant an interim order prior to granting an application for leave to construct?  And the answer to that is, yes, it can.  This Board has the power under section 98(1.1) to grant an interim order in exactly the situation that we're in.

Section 98(1.1) talks about a person who has applied for leave to construct under section 92 and who seeks an interim order.  This is exactly the situation that we're in, except that when we read section 1.1 it says that the Board may issue an interim order authorizing a person who has applied for leave to construct, officers, agents, and so forth, to enter on land at the intended location of any part or proposed work and to make surveys and examinations as are necessary for the fixing of the work.  That is what it says.  It says that the Board has the authority to grant an interim order in this situation, and it is for that purpose.

That then hooks up nicely with section 21(7), if you go back to section 21(7), which says generally that the Board may make interim orders pending the final disposition.

So you have both a general power, section 21(7), to issue interim orders, but then you have a very specific provision dealing with the kind of interim orders that can be granted in the situation that we're in.  And that is for the purpose of making surveys and examinations, not for the purpose of construction, not for the purpose for which the application was originally brought.  Recall, this is an application to construct, and this is a motion to construct.

So this motion is caught by section 92.  This has to do with construction.  And section 21(2) says you have to hold a hearing, but before that you can issue an interim order for the purpose of surveys and examinations.

And 98(1.1) goes on -- it's actually 98(2).  It says:
"Any damages resulting from an entry on to land carried out under subsection 1 or pursuant to subsection 1.1 shall be determined by agreement or failing agreement in the matter set out in section 100."


And of course, as you probably know -- you've looked at these provisions before -- section 100 provides for the calculation of damages and section 102 gives a right to compensation for damages.

So the legislature has said, even with respect to surveys and examinations -- what is the expression?  Surveys and examinations, yes -- that those might cause damage too, and those damages are to be calculated and a right to recovery is given.

The Board did not grant -- sorry, the legislature did not grant to the Board any power to grant an interim order authorizing construction, or clearing and grubbing, which is construction, as we just saw, or the construction on the Balmer site.

If the legislature had intended to give the Board this power, it could and, in my submission, would have done so.  And I would like, if I could, to read part of Ruth Sullivan's book on the construction of statutes.  It is very brief, but it makes the point so well.  It is in my submission, Mr. Blue, which you have had since last Friday:
"An implied exclusion argument lies whenever there is a reason to believe that if the Legislature had meant to include a particular thing within the ambit of its legislation, it would have referred to that thing expressly.  Because of this expectation, the Legislature's failure to mention the thing becomes grounds for inferring that it was deliberately excluded.  Although there is no express exclusion, exclusion is implied.  The force of the implication depends on the strength and legitimacy of the expectation of express reference.  The better the reason for anticipating express reference to a thing, the more telling the silence of the legislature."

I put it to you, members of this Board, that there is an entirely reasonable and legitimate and good reason -- expectation to -- reason to believe that had -- having expressly allowed for interim orders for something which is less likely to be environmentally destructive than clearing and grubbing, but not allowing interim orders, not contemplating interim orders for construction, the expectation would be that the more destructive conduct would be the one which would be of most concern not only for the right to enter, but for damages.

And the Legislature did both things when it was dealing with the right to enter for surveys and examinations.  It did both things.  Why wouldn't it do both things when it is talking about a more destructive intervention, which this clearly is.

The submission that we, therefore, make is that the Legislature's silence, both with respect to the right to enter and with respect to damages, clearly manifests the Legislature's intention to exclude the Board's power to grant an interim order for that purpose.

And that's just looking at your statute, your home statute.  But as we saw earlier, section 21.2 also talks about "or any other statute".  So let's have a look.  What is the most obvious statute that comes to mind?  It is of course the SPPA, Statutory Powers Procedure Act.  It also provides for interim orders, section 16(1) of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.

Now, this provision has been the subject of very careful consideration by your fellow administrative tribunals, two of them.  Mr. Blue gave me the cases he is going to rely upon this afternoon, and they predate the two cases I am going to rely upon and they don't have nearly the level of analysis.  And I want to go through it with you.

The first case is the Arzem decision, which you have, I hope.  Do you have the Arzem decision, members of the Panel?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. LEITCH:  So this is a case, a 2005 decision of the Ontario Human Rights Tribunal.  It is a case that arises out of the terrible autism problem that exists.  Parents with children with autism went to the Board and said, We want you, Ontario Human Rights Tribunal, to issue an interim order -- this is page 24 of the decision, at least my -- I sure hope you have the same version of the decision that I do.

It is motion number 3.  It starts on page 24.  Is that the page that motion number 3 starts on in your case, in your publication?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  Good.  So the parents of these children go before the Ontario Human Rights Tribunal and they say, There is irreparable harm to our children if we don't get these drugs for our kids, and we want you to make an order, an interim order, for these drugs to be made available to us before you decide -- it is an interim order they're looking for -- before you decide the main motion.

And of course they say, some justification, that there is irreparable harm to their children - terrible facts here - irreparable harm to their children.

They say that their remedy -- just what Mr. Blue said a minute ago.  You can give the remedy eventually.  Give us some of it now.  You can give the whole thing later.  Give us some of it now.  This is what Mr. Blue said a minute ago, exactly the argument he is making.

And the Board, the Tribunal, had to deal with this question, and I want to take you through it, because you can see here you've got very thorough submissions, very thorough submissions, from the Human Rights Commission, which took the position that the Board could -- that the Tribunal could issue such an order, from the complainants, of course, who take the same position, and from Ontario, which took the opposing position.

And I want to take you through it, because if you look at paragraph 117, for example -- I should have marked this up for you before I gave it to you.  Paragraph 117:
"The Complainants would suffer irreparable harm because of lack of treatment while they wait for the Tribunal's final decision."

We're not talking about hydro lines, but we're talking about something very serious.  And they say, paragraph 119, the bottom sentence in paragraph 119:
"Specifically, subsection 16.1 only allows a tribunal to award, in the interim, the type of remedy that its enabling statute allows it to order at the end of a hearing on the merits."


Same situation.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Leitch, you're saying it is the same situation, but is there provision under the Human Rights Tribunal's legislation directly to grant interim orders?

MR. LEITCH:  I am going to take you right through the whole thing, if you don't mind, because I think it is important.  These are the Commission's submissions that were certainly at page --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I am asking you to clarify.  You are saying this is the same situation here and I am asking a point of clarification, please.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Does the Human Rights Tribunal's legislation itself contain provision for interim orders?

MR. LEITCH:  No.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. LEITCH:  No.  I'm sorry, I didn't understand your question.  They were relying on section 16.1 of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is it your understanding Goldcorp is relying on that section in this motion?

MR. LEITCH:  We didn't hear from Mr. Blue on that.  I can tell you that I have had some discussion with him and I understand he is, but maybe he will tell us he's not.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. LEITCH:  But I am dealing with what I think is an important concern that you should have is, Okay, if we accept Mr. Leitch's submission that our own statute doesn't permit us to do this, what about the SPPA?  That would be a reasonable question for you to have.

I think based on the cases Mr. Blue gave me this morning, what Mr. Blue is going to rely upon is decisions of the Ontario Labour Relations Board which say that that Board can rely upon section 16.1 to grant what it calls substantive interim relief, "substantive" meaning essentially the same remedy in an interim order that the applicant is seeking in the final order on an interim basis.

And it is true that there are cases from the Ontario Labour Relations Board that support this position, and I will -- this Board, the Human Rights Tribunal, dealt with those cases.  We will come to that.

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, if it will assist, I will concede the point that the Arzem case says that section 16.1 of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act says that you can only use it to make procedural motions.  I think that is what my friend is coming down to.  I concede that that is what the case says.  And I think that is all we need, isn't it?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, Mr. Leitch, with that --


MR. LEITCH:  That is a significant admission, or acknowledgement, because what I am distinguishing and what this case goes on to distinguish very clearly between is interim orders that are substantive in nature.  They give some of the relief that is claimed in the very application, and does so in advance.  That is what this decision describes as substantive interlocutory relief or substantive relief.

And this case says, as was just pointed out, no, section 16 1 doesn't give this tribunal or any tribunal the power to grant relief of that kind, which means that if this tribunal has that authority it must be found in its own statute, in your case the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.

This is not -- the relief that Mr. Blue's client is claiming - I hope he agrees with this part as well - is not merely procedural.  It is substantive.  It allows construction to proceed in advance of a decision as to whether or not leave should be granted for construction to proceed.

There must, therefore, be an express -- the case goes on to talk about how the courts have this authority.  They have some inherent authority to do interim orders that grant substantive relief, but a tribunal does not, unless it is given that power expressly.  It is not, we have just heard -- it is agreed now -- given expressly by section 16(1).  I don't know why Mr. Blue then referred me to the OLRB cases, because they say that section 16(1) can be interpreted that way, okay?  We now have some agreement that they can't be interpreted that way.

MR. BLUE:  No, we don't.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, we'll leave this to the schedule we established, Mr...

MR. BLUE:  So my friend is not misled, I am simply agreeing that the case, Arzem case, says what he says it says.  That is as far as I go.

MR. LEITCH:  And this case is the most recent and by far the most authoritative decision you will get on this point.  It is a very thoughtful decision.  It goes through the submissions of the Commission, the complainants, and Ontario.

And Ontario submitted that there needed to be express power to grant interim orders.  Ontario didn't doubt that a tribunal such as yours can be granted an express power, and in fact, you have been granted the express power to grant interim orders under section 98(1.1), but not for the purpose that Goldcorp wants it.

Now, what I find very significant is at paragraph 147 of Arzem -- because although Mr. Blue may agree that it stands for what it stands for, it is important to look at the reasoning.  Look at paragraph 147:
"Ontario asserts that the intended structure of the Code's remedial sections, which prescribe a hearing on the merits before a remedy may be granted..."

Which is your section 21(2).  It's their section 41.  We will come to it in a moment:
"...must be respected."


It says:
"Section 61 of the SPPA was not intended to give the tribunal authority to ignore the basic structure of its constituent statute."


Then it goes on, paragraph 148:
"In addition to the..."

And this -- I am really hanging my hat on this part:
"In addition to the absence of statutory jurisdiction to grant interlocutory relief, or interlocutory injunctive relief, logically there is a fundamental difficulty with respect to such relief, specifically the undertaking of damages."

Argues Ontario:
"The giving of an undertaking on damages is a legal pre-condition to the granting of interlocutory injunctive relief and is integral to the balance of convenience."


Now, Mr. Blue's client says, 'Oh, well, we'll fix that for you.  We will give you an undertaking on damages.'  Wrong.  This statute already contemplates damages.  Your statute already contemplates damages.  And it does it specifically in relation to damages caused by surveys and examinations.

The legislature here turned its mind to the question and said, 'Yes, damages.  That's an important part of an interim order, that we're making sure that the -- that there's some compensation if there are damages.'  This is what section 98(1) -- 98(2) does.

So we come to the conclusion of Arzem, paragraph 158:
"The tribunal's decision is it does not have jurisdiction under the code alone..."

Because there is no power to grant interim relief under the code alone, and there isn't for you either:
"...in conjunction with the SPPA or within its own powers to control its own process, to grant the injunctive relief sought here by these complainants."

It goes on to say what the Board -- what the code says it must do is have a hearing first.  Not a motion for an interim order.  A hearing.

The Board -- the tribunal's power to grant -- this is section 41 I was mentioning, on page 31, paragraph 162:
"The tribunal shall hold a hearing and then grant the relief."


That is what your statute says.

Paragraph 165:
"The tribunal may exercise its powers under Subsection 41(1).  Three imperatives must be satisfied.  There must be a hearing.  Based on the hearing, there must be a finding of liability..."

In that case, that is the code:
"...and that the infringement contravenes section 9."


So you have to conduct a hearing under section 92.  And you may ultimately decide to grant this leave application, but that is not what you are being asked to do today.

Paragraph 171:
"The Commission declares that section 16(1) of the SPPA allows the tribunal to award in the interim the type of remedy that its enabling statute allows it to order at the end of the hearing on the merits."


Rejected.  The argument is rejected, with very careful reasons, as I say.  This tribunal goes through very carefully, talks about the role of courts, as opposed to tribunals.  It talks about the question of damages that we talked about.  It says, yes, a tribunal can be given the authority to grant interim relief, but it must be explicit, clear and unequivocal language.


Paragraph 183:
"When it derogates from the court's inherent jurisdiction -- that is to say, when the legislature decides to give this authority to tribunals and confers similar powers on inferior courts or tribunals -- it does so in clear and unequivocal language and is mindful to recognize and preserve the superior court's inherent power."

You don't have inherent powers.

So the paragraph -- the decision concludes at paragraph 200:
"In sum, the tribunal concludes that it does not have jurisdiction under the code or the SPPA or, specifically, section 16(1) to grant interlocutory injunctive relief as contemplated by the Commission and the complainants."


Now, this decision was followed by a more recent decision, also given to the Board and to Mr. Blue last Friday, the Greenspace decision.

This case is an environmental case and so, in my respectful submission, it gets closer to what we're dealing with here.  We're talking about allowing a company to disturb the environment.

And what was at issue there - I will try to explain it quickly - is there was a power in the tribunal to grant a stay pending leave and the question was:  Can the -- can that power be read into the legislation that was at issue in that case?

And it refers to the Arzem decision.  This is the argument that was essentially accepted.  It is at paragraph 13.  The Director took the position -- submits that the EBR - that's Environmental Bill of Rights - not only does not expressly confer jurisdiction on the tribunal to issue a stay of a decision pending leave to appeal, but impliedly excludes such jurisdiction.

This is because there is express reference to a stay in section 42 of the EBR, which provides for an automatic stay once leave is granted, along with the procedures and criteria that apply.  The Director submits that the import of section 42 is that the legislature, having turned its mind to the issue of when a stay should be granted, deliberately chose not to provide the tribunal with authority to grant a stay pending its decision on leave to appeal applications.

That is exactly our situation -- not exactly.  We're not dealing with stays.  We're dealing with interim orders, but as was acknowledged through the submissions Mr. Blue has already made, the criteria are about the same.  They have to do with interim relief.  It is all based on the RJR-MacDonald case, the Supreme Court of Canada, as Mr. Blue said, you know, balance of convenience and prima facie case and irreparable harm.

This tribunal said, No, we follow Arzem.  The Arzem decision of the Ontario Human Rights Tribunal decided the legislature did not intend for section 16.1 of the SPPA to confer equitable jurisdiction on Ontario tribunals allowing them to issue substantive interlocutory relief.

When you come to the analysis parts of the decision, which is at paragraph 24, the Tribunal accepts this argument and says, Look, there is no reference to a stay.

MR. BLUE:  Read paragraph 23.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Mr. Blue.

MR. LEITCH:  I will do my submissions, and then you do yours.  How is that?

MR. BLUE:  Paragraph 23.

MR. LEITCH:  How about we do it that way, Mr. Blue?  Is that not familiar to you?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Gentlemen, I think we understand our roles here.

MR. LEITCH:  "The intention of the" -- this is paragraph 24 --

"... with respect to stays must be discerned from looking at the EBR as a whole."


Then it goes on to say there is a stay provided here and not there.  The implication is there is no power to grant stays.

The court -- the Tribunal, rather, at paragraph 3 recognizes, as you have heard, that there is some balancing going on here, that maybe people are going to be hurt by this lack of power to grant interim orders, but it is a jurisdictional issue.

It is not about, you know, this tribunal making a decision about what is in the public interest.  If it doesn't have jurisdiction, it is not permitted to make the decision, regardless of irreparable harm.

By the way, I will come now finally to the submissions that you have heard on the merits.  My understanding of Mr. Pedwell's evidence was that there are other solutions here.

Mr. Pedwell said that.  He said, We can do diesel or we can do consumer -- we can do gas.  Yes, we would like to have the line and, certainly if we had the line, we would use it, but the idea that this entire project depends on this line, we didn't -- the evidence does not support that submission.

The evidence does not support that Goldcorp can't do what it wants to do with diesel-generated or gas-generated hydro.

Then we have this concern about the archeological -- the third party archeological review.  I presume Mr. Blue would have you believe that we just pulled this out of the hat in June of 2011, even though he chose not to discuss it with Ms. Gliddon.

In fact, if you look at the letter of October 26th, 2010, it is there, also.  It is on page...  What page is that?

This was an issue that was brought to Goldcorp's attention a long time ago and in precisely the same way that it was brought to their attention again in June.

Page 4 of 6 of Clifford Bull's letter, Chief Clifford Bull's letter:
"In accordance with appendix 'A', the consultation for this project will proceed as follows..."

And then paragraph 3:
"A third party review of the engineering and financial aspects of the project, to be conducted concurrently with your sub-consultant's archaeological assessment. Once your sub-consultant's assessment is completed, LSFN will require a third party review of those results..."


Back in October of 2010 this issue was raised.

Now, it is all well and good for Mr. Blue to point the finger at Mr. Angeconeb and his band, but what's the problem here?  Is it an 'after you, Alphonse' routine?  Nobody gets on the phone to call the archeological person?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Leitch, I actually have a question around this issue of the archeological review and the concerns of Lac Seul.  I would be interested in your view on how they are relevant, setting aside the jurisdictional question for the time being, but on the merits of the application today, because when I look at the provision in our act of what we will be looking at or what we are limited to looking at in the context of a leave-to-construct application, we are quite circumscribed.

If I look at 96.2, it is quite specific we shall only consider price --


MR. LEITCH:  It is not you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Hold on, please -- price, reliability and quality of electricity service, and also policies with respect to renewable generation.

So I would like your views on what relevance that issue is for us.  It may well be an issue of great relevance for MNR in considering whether or not to grant its permit.

MR. LEITCH:  Right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But in terms of us granting or not granting either this relief or the section 92 relief, help me with how that is relevant for us.

MR. LEITCH:  Well, first of all, I will only answer -- I take the position that you don't have jurisdiction to be dealing with this at all.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I understand that.

MR. LEITCH:  However, if you take a different view and you come to the question you have raised under section 92 and you are asking yourself, What is the relevance of this to those criteria that you mentioned in section 96.2, the answer is that your way of dealing with these issues up until now has been to grant, subject to environmental approval.  That is the way you have done it.  That is what Yellow Falls says.  That is what Bruce to Milton says.

That's the way you have done it.  I could take issue with that, but for current purposes, I don't.  If you were to do that, you would say, Well, we can't approve this thing until that problem is solved.

And that would be why you couldn't give -- if you go back to the problem I don't want you to go back to -- you couldn't give this immediate relief either.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But could we not give it conditionally?  I guess I'm asking --


MR. LEITCH:  That is not what Mr. Blue wants.  He wants to walk out of this room today with an order.

He is asking for an interim order of this Board, Get going; we have to get going.  We have to get constructing.  We don't have any time to waste.

How long is that going to take, Ms. Chaplin?  I don't know.  I don't know.  It could take -- we had -- Mr. Angeconeb was asked the question, and I think his answer was, I don't know how long it will take.  End of summer, maybe.

You are being asked for an interim order today for authority to start clearing and grubbing, subject to these bird questions that we were talking about.

So, you know, you have heard the evidence.  It's over -- apparently, Mr. Blue's client needs to have this done -- needs to get started on this by July 1st, did we hear?  Or was it August 1st?  And it is looking for you to give him that authority.

How can you do that when this permit may take longer than that to obtain?  I suppose you could do it, and he will just have to take his chances, but he's looking for a specific order that he can start constructing, his clients can start constructing, in accordance with a timetable.

You have been given a timetable.  Look at the timetable.  Construction starting -- well, supposed to start in March.  Now it is going to start, apparently, in August.  Will this problem be solved by August?

Then the other point that I made on -- this is again on the merits -- is the environmental study that was done was done in the -- for winter construction.  We are no longer in a winter construction mode.  What are the implications of doing it in the summer?  Are they different?

You haven't heard from the MNR on that.  You haven't heard from the Ministry of the Environment on that.  You have heard from Ms. Brooks, a proponent.  You should not be allowing this project to proceed based on what she says.

There are -- and this is what you say in your case law -- there are in place authorities which deal with these questions.  They are the Ministry of the Environment and the Ministry of Natural Resources.  Why are we listening to what Ms. Brooks says about what the Ministry of the Environment has to say about it or what the Ministry of Natural Resources has to say about it?

This is not adequate evidence for this -- for an interim order allowing construction to begin in the summer, when the environmental study wasn't even done for the summer.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So Mr. Leitch, if the Board were to make -- if we were to reject your arguments on jurisdiction - so setting that aside just for the moment, please - and if we were inclined to grant an interim order but were to make it conditional on receiving all of the necessary MNR and other permits -- we now have the list, I believe, a list -- does Lac Seul have the same concerns with respect to the merits of the request?

MR. LEITCH:  No.  But then the motion is effectively being rejected then.  We just go back to the process that we're already in, which is that we deal with the Ministry of the Environment, we deal with the Ministry of Natural Resources, and we carry on until we get it all done, and you will have another chance to look at this by the time -- you know, when you do your application, section 92 leave.  You will look at it all again, and you will see where everybody is then.  Maybe it will happen very quickly.

But interim orders are about immediate relief.  That is what an interim order is.  It is here and now.  This child will stay with this parent.  That is what an interim order is.  This kid will get drugs for autism.  This strike will stop right now.  That is what "interim relief" is.  And that is what this applicant wants from this Board, is immediate relief from the burdens of the statute.  Well, the burdens of the statute were imposed by the legislature, and they should be respected.

I don't think I have anything to add, unless you have any questions you want to...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  If we could just go back to the jurisdictional arguments.  I do have some questions there.

So looking at section 98(1.1), which you took us to, which is the Board -- the provision for granting interim orders with respect to entry on to land for certain purposes.

Is it your position that because the legislature turned its mind to that particular question and provided that provision, that no other interim orders -- that the Board has no jurisdiction to make any other interim orders with respect to a leave-to-construct application?

MR. LEITCH:  Correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Now, do you think that there is any importance or anything to be gleaned from the fact that in section 98(1.1) it is permissive, in terms of saying the Board may -- it does not say "may only" or, you know, it is not limiting within the phrase, whereas, for example, the other provision that relates to leave to construct for transmission is the one I took you to before, the 96(2), where it says quite explicitly "the Board shall only consider".

Do you think that the difference in the way those two provisions were crafted has any significance, in terms of the level of limitation on the Board's powers?

MR. LEITCH:  I think that you are right, that section 96(2)'s use of the word "only" is significant, and I think you know probably -- my understanding of the background of the -- that is a fairly recent amendment to 96(2) -- 2009, you will see -- that the legislature wanted to say to this Board, 'Here is what you will only look at.'

And they did that because there were a bunch of other things the Board was being invited to look at, and they wanted to communicate to you only these.  And that is stronger language, perhaps.  I would agree.  But the logic that I am using is just as strong.  It is just as strong, because ask yourself, why did the Board -- why did the legislature say you need an interim order to go in to do surveys and examinations, but you don't need an interim order to go in and obliterate this part of the forest?

Does that make sense?  I say, I submit, that the implication is, as has been pointed out by Ruth Sullivan and others in the cases that I referred you to, that the legislature's silence is just as eloquent as the word "only".

MS. CHAPLIN:  And do you think that that also pertains, for example, for the part of the applicant's request, which has to do with its own land?  I mean, 98(1.1), might also some of the significance be its granting powers to enter on to land for which there has not been land-use agreements or expropriation because it is all in advance of the 96(2) leave to construct?

MR. LEITCH:  There's kind of a practical answer to that.  Although it is the same, we heard, that MNR has to apparently provide permits for even the Balmer TS, apparently.  So that it is the same logic, but the reality is -- and I think this is what Mr. Angeconeb -- I mean, it is just obvious.  What, is Goldcorp going to sue themselves because they caused damage to their own land?  I mean, it is just, practically speaking, not --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess I am asking whether or not you think, practically speaking, this provision was there to protect other landowners, private landowners, whose land is potentially subject to a corridor or a transmission site?

MR. LEITCH:  Well, this -- I mean, that is kind of suggesting that the First Nation has no interest in Crown land.  That is not accurate.  Now, if you want me to get into that --


MS. CHAPLIN:  No, no.  I am actually -- I was particularly limiting it to the transformer station at that point.

MR. LEITCH:  Oh, I see.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. LEITCH:  Okay.  No, I think, practically speaking, as was stated by Mr. Angeconeb, this isn't a big concern.  The big concern is the Crown land, over which they have hunting, fishing, trapping, cultural sites.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Ms. Sebalj?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  Before I get started with Board Staff's submissions, I just wanted to make sure that we mark the environmental study report that was provided last week by Goldcorp.  If we could mark that as KM1.6, to make sure it is part of this record.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.6:  ENVIRONMENTAL STUDY REPORT

MR. LEITCH:  What is the document you're referring to?

MS. SEBALJ:  The environmental study report.  The date on it is February 2011.
Submissions by Ms. Sebalj:


MS. SEBALJ:  Panel, I am just going to take you briefly through some things which may appear obvious to this audience and especially to the Board members, but I think it is worth doing for the record in this proceeding.

The Board's jurisdiction regarding the construction of transmission lines is contained in part VI of the Ontario Energy Board Act, and you've already been referred to these sections but they are section 89, which defines electricity transmission line.  And I will repeat it again.  It means:
"...a line, transformers, plant or equipment used for conveying electricity at voltages of 50 kilovolts or less."


And I mention it, again, because I think it is important that I come back to that with respect, in particular, to the Balmer TS proposal.

Section 92, of course, which is the requirement that applicants come to this Board to seek leave to construct prior to constructing electricity transmission lines, among other things, and section 96, which has been discussed, which circumscribes the Board's powers with respect to section 92.

And you've already referenced that test or that -- those criteria, but I will say them, again:
"The interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of electricity service.
"Where applicable and in a manner consistent with the policies of the Government of Ontario, the promotion of the use of renewable energy sources."


Part VI also contains provisions specifically related to the entry on land, which again have been discussed in some detail and I won't review those sections.  I certainly won't read them to you, but they are section 98 and, I will mention for your reference, section 103.

Section 98 does two things.  It grants an automatic right to enter on the land once a proponent or an applicant has leave, and that is section 98(1).

Then 98(1.1 is the relatively new section that Mr. Leitch referred to, which provides for an interim order authorizing a person to enter on to land prior to receiving a leave under 90 or 92, 90 of course being the pipelines.

Both subsections of section 98 indicate the right to enter the land is to make such surveys and examinations as are necessary for fixing the site of work.

And I will turn you to, with the assistance of Mr. Mukherji, the decision with which all of you will be familiar.  It is the -- oh, can I have one of those?  Thanks.

It is the decision in the Bruce-to-Milton application, and it is the EB-2007-0051, and this is specifically the decision -- the request for an interim order granting entry onto land in connection with the leave to construct.  So this is the early entry decision as a way of referencing it.

I bring it to your attention.  Obviously the applicant in this case is not asking for a 98(1.1), but I think it is useful to just briefly look at what Hydro One in that case asked for and what the Board granted.

At page 2 of that -- sorry, at page 5 of that decision, there is a section entitled "Proposed Early Access Activities".  Then there is a list there which I will not go through, but it gives seven bullet points, all of which relate to the activities that Hydro One was proposing to undertake prior to receiving a leave to construct.

I will say that they are in the nature of -- I will call them relatively benign activities, in the sense that they -- at least Hydro One was purporting they wouldn't be likely to cause extensive environmental impacts.

In its decision - and I will refer you to page 7 - the Board, in the last paragraph of that page:
"The Board concludes that the survey, testing, appraisal and investigative activities identified by Hydro One are appropriate activities to be conducted under an interim order for entry to land and that the granting of the requested interim order is in the public interest."


It goes on, and I am going to refer to this decision again in just a couple of minutes, but I wanted to give that context for section 98(1.1).

Just very briefly, section 103 deals with entry upon the land, which is the site of an existing work where leave was granted under part VI.

It is worth mentioning because it actually -- 103(1) provides the more extensive types of activities after someone has leave:
"Any person may at any time enter upon land, without the consent of the owner of the land, for the purpose of inspecting, altering, maintaining, repairing, renewing, disconnecting, replacing or removing a work or part of a work where leave for the construction, expansion or reinforcement of the work or the making of an interconnection was granted under this Part or a predecessor of this Part."


And, again, there is provision there for compensation for damages.

Again, I won't go into great detail, because I think these arguments have been made by Mr. Leitch, but the point I want to make is that these sections make it clear that the legislature turned its mind on multiple occasions to the concept of early -- or of entry onto the land, and, in the case of 98(1.1), early entry onto the land.

And counsel for Lac Seul First Nation has brought to your attention the concept of implied exclusion, which is a maxim or a principle of statutory interpretation.

In Board Staff's submission, the principle is directly applicable in this case, because it is clear that the legislature turned its mind to these concepts, and that it turned its mind to entry on to the land both before and after leave is granted and to the types of activities that could be conducted both before and after section 90 or 92 leave is granted.

And, finally, the legislature has specifically enumerated the purposes for which entry onto the land is granted.

The inference, in our submission, is that if the legislature had intended to allow entry into land by a proponent prior to the grant of a leave, in this case a transmission line, for the purpose of clearing and grubbing or for civil engineering work, it would have done so.

There is no express provision in the statute that allows these types of activities prior to the grant of a leave to construct.

The implication, then, is that the Board is empowered to, in essence, expand the provision of, in this case, section 98(1.1) of the OEB Act to allow entry onto the land prior to the grant of the leave.

So the next question that arises and which Mr. Leitch has taken you to is whether either or both of sections 19(1), which is the Board's general authority to determine all matters, all questions of law and fact within its jurisdiction, and/or section 21(7), which you have also been taken to, which is the interim order power, the general interim order power, whether one or both of those essentially assists Goldcorp in this case.

And I think, in Board Staff's view, in this case they do not.  And that simply brings -- the reason is I bring you back to 98(1.1), that there is a very definitive -- that the legislature turned its mind to this, and that while the Board does have broad powers under section 19 and section 21(7), they are circumscribed, in our submission, by the fact that there is a very specific provision for early entry onto the land.

And that brings us to the details of the current case.  The relief sought by Goldcorp falls squarely within the framework of section 98(1.1), except the proponent wants -- as Mr. Leitch has indicated, the proponent wants to do more than what was clearly contemplated by 98(1.1), and, perhaps more importantly, has already been interpreted by a panel of this Board in the Bruce to Milton decision that I referenced you to, the types of activities that are included within the concept of making surveys and examinations for the purpose of fixing the site.

And as Mr. Leitch has also mentioned, I think it is clear the proponent in this case has not tried to fit a square peg into a round hole and tell you that the types of activities that it is contemplating fit within 98(1.1).

And so sort of broadly speaking, and from a jurisdictional point of view, Board Staff is of the view that it would be inappropriate for this Board to grant the relief sought in the form that is being requested by Goldcorp.

Before I leave the discussion of jurisdiction generally and get to the merits, I just want to make a point on the reference by counsel for Lac Seul First Nation to this concept of section 16 -- not the concept, but section 16.1 of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act and section 21(7) of the OEB Act.

And I don't want to mischaracterize what Mr. Leitch's submissions and his argument with respect to this are, but I do feel that I have to clarify something, at least from Board Staff's perspective, and that is that we do have an express grant under section 27(1) to make interim orders.  I want to read it so that I don't get it wrong:
"The Board may make interim orders pending the final disposition of a matter before it."

And further, with reference, Member Chaplin, to your question, it is Board Staff's view that section 23(1) of the act, which says "the Board, in making an order, may impose such conditions as it considers proper, and an order may be general or particular in its application", is not only for the purposes of final decisions and orders.  There is nothing to suggest that here.  So I don't think it would be entirely inappropriate to make a -- or I don't think it would be inappropriate to make a conditional interim order.

I think there was some reference to the fact that because of the immediacy of an interim order that would be inappropriate.  But I think there is express provision for that in our act.

But my point in doing this is that, as you well know, this Board regularly makes substantive interim orders; as an example, interim rate orders on a regular basis, allowing a utility to continue to apply the rates that it currently has in place pending a decision of the Board on a rate application.

And I don't think for a minute that Mr. Leitch was suggesting that we don't have that power.  I think he was just covering something off -- and he can correct me if I am wrong -- covering off the possibility of using the SPPA section as a possible way of getting around the circumscription of section 21(7) by section 98(1.1), but I just wanted to put on the record, because it made us bristle, that it's, I think, abundantly clear that this Board has the ability to make substantive interim orders, just perhaps not in this case, because of the particular facts and the particular sections that apply in this case.

So going back to the matters at hand then, since Board Staff is of the view that this Board lacks the jurisdiction to grant the relief sought by Goldcorp in the present motion as it is structured, the question that remains is whether there is a way to accommodate the proponent's needs, given the restrictions as described in the application and by the witnesses today, and put another way, is there a way to help the proponent get to where it needs to be without offending statutory and jurisdictional limitations as we see them.

And if we put aside for a moment the jurisdictional order, I think there are a couple -- sorry, the jurisdictional issue, I think there are a couple of options that the proponent might have and, therefore, that the Board might have, and they have been -- there's been some probing on these throughout the day.

But option -- the first option that we see is private negotiations to access the lands, and it is actually pretty simple in this case because, as we've heard, the Balmer complex TS, it wouldn't require negotiations, because they own that land.

And with the MNR, obviously, it is slightly more complicated, because there seems to be a little bit of, you know -- the MNR is waiting on this Board, and the Board may be waiting on the MNR.

But I did want to bring to your attention, again, in the Bruce-to-Milton decision for early access, at page 8 of that decision, the Board actually turned its mind to this concept, because it didn't grant Hydro One everything that it asked for, in terms of early entry.

I just have to find my reference.  There it is.  Second paragraph on that page 8:
"Hydro One proposed to enter into written agreements with landowners only in relation to route access for testing related vehicles and equipment.  This is because that work is more intrusive, in that it involves the construction of access routes and/or because the work involves land outside the proposed corridor.  Hydro One estimated that it will require off-corridor access across approximately 20 properties."

The next paragraph:
"The Board will not grant Hydro One authority to construct access routes on the proposed corridor as part of the interim order, but we will not prohibit this activity.  The Board concludes that this activity would have too large an impact to allow authorization under the interim order without a negotiated agreement.  If Hydro One needs to construct an access route, and the evidence is that this will be required in only a few cases, then Hydro One will have to negotiate for access with the landowner directly."

So I think that is instructive.  I don't know if it is practical in this case.  But I think it is instructive that, to my mind, that is on all fours with this case, in that the Board said, 'Here are some of the activities that you can do under section 98(1.1), but here is one that we're neither going to prohibit nor allow, but if you are able to negotiate an arrangement, then go ahead and do what you need to do.'

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Sebalj, can I just ask you what your understanding of the Board's comment here "but will not prohibit this activity", and what authority would the Board exercise to prohibit it?  If it were just left that the Board will not grant the authority to construct access routes, would it have been left to Hydro One in the absence of that, the latter part of the sentence there, "will not prohibit it", could Hydro One on its own accord have negotiated land agreements without the Board commenting on not prohibiting it?  I just wondered on the Board's authority to prohibit it in the first place.

MS. SEBALJ:  It is sort of a curious turn of phrase.  I am assuming that what the Board is saying is that, 'We are not going to tell you that by not granting you section 98(1.1) authority to do this activity, that it doesn't mean you can't do it.  It just doesn't fall within our scope of authority.'

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that sort of brings me back to the very first thing that I referenced, which is the definition of a transmission line and this concept of the TS and the Balmer complex.

And I think we got very close to being there in the earlier discussion, but in Board Staff's view, because that Balmer complex is entirely on private land, in spite of the fact that electricity transmission line, the definition includes transformers, and while I understand Mr. Blue's interpretation of that definition to mean that they cannot do construction until they get Board approval to do so, I think the combination of the fact that it is private land and the fact that the last part of that definition says "used for conveying electricity at voltage higher than 50 kilovolts" suggests to Board Staff that they could do this construction, and it is only at the point of electrification that it becomes real.  In other words, they do need a leave to construct, and it does include the TS, but I don't think that -- the Board Staff doesn't think that there is anything expressly prohibiting that construction prior to electrification.

I note that Goldcorp has expressly said that they don't want to bifurcate this, and I don't know if it is a bifurcation of the section 92 application.  I don't think it can be.  But for purposes of this, providing some form of relief for Goldcorp to get on with the business that it needs to, it might be appropriate to bifurcate this motion for early access.

I wanted to touch briefly on First Nations consultation issues.  And this is -- I've put it here.  I do have another option, although it is a fairly obvious one, but I put it here in my argument just because the concept of getting access to the TS isn't that big a deal from our perspective, but the line itself, there may actually be First Nations consultations issues.

If they were able to secure a negotiated agreement with the MNR, that doesn't mean that the First Nations consultation issues fall away.  And so I just wanted to touch on, again, things that are probably fairly obvious to most, if not all, of the parties in the room, but the Yellow Falls decision and the scope of the Board's jurisdiction in a section 92 leave-to-construct application, as you know, the Board issued a procedural order in the Yellow Falls decision, which is docket number EB-2009-0120, wherein it asked three questions with respect to the Board's jurisdiction with respect to First Nations consultation in the context of a section 92.

The Board found -- and I do have copies of that decision.  I assume everyone in the room also does, but I will provide some to the Panel and anyone else who also needs one.

[Mr. Mukherji passes out the decision]


MS. SEBALJ:  The Board found at page 9 of that decision:
"The issue here is the extent to which the legislature has endowed the Board with the power to determine questions of law, with respect to leave-to-construct applications.  Because the Board's power to determine questions of law is specifically limited in section 19 to areas within its jurisdiction, the Board finds that it has no authority to determine constitutional issues such as the adequacy of consultation with Aboriginals in relation to any matters beyond the criteria in section 96(2)."


And later, at pages -- at the bottom of page 10 and going on to page 11, in fact the Board's view --:
"In the Board's view, the only way to ensure that the appropriate measure of consultation and accommodation occurs with respect to any of the requisite permits, approvals and assessments of the relevant government agencies is to follow the Board's typical process to make its approval of the leave to construct conditional upon completion of those processes and procurement of those permits.  It is clear to the Board that the assessment of the adequacy of consultation and accommodation is best conducted by the various government agencies sponsoring those processes informed as it is with the intimate knowledge of the context, with the possibility or threat of supervision by the courts, if deficiencies are thought to exist.  For the Board to engage in an ex post facto review of the adequacy of consultation by any of these government agencies would be inefficient, ineffective and insupportable."


So I just wanted to put that in Board Staff's submission and on this record, because I think it is important.  It also affects the option, as I just put forward, with respect to the possibility of a negotiated agreement with MNR, because at the industry end of the day it is Board Staff's view it is MNR's duty to consult with the First Nation or to ensure that duty has been appropriately discharged.  And as we've heard today, that is something that the MNR is not comfortable with at this point, which brings me to my final -- the final piece of the submission, which is the second option, and, frankly, potentially, from a practical perspective, in Board's view, the most appropriate.

To put context around this, I just wanted to reread the request for relief of Goldcorp at the second page of Goldcorp's motion.  It says "An interim order" -- it talks about the interim order authorizing the civil engineering on the TS.

But then when I referred to the second piece, which is the clearing and grubbing, it says:
"An interim order authorizing Goldcorp and its contractors to carry out clearing and grubbing of the right-of-way for the applied for transmission line starting subsequent to completion of the nesting season for breeding and migrating birds, on the portions of the right-of-way outside the buffer zone for two separate bald eagle nests on the proposed right-of-way, and, finally, in September 2011 after the bald eagle nesting period is complete."


And I think for Board Staff, when we look at the schedule, the very ask -- the very request for relief is to start the clearing and grubbing after these restrictions are lifted.  And when I review the seasonal restrictions, I see that the earliest one that gets lifted is at the end of June, which is the calving caribou, and then the breeding birds, migrating birds and ground breeding birds are all mid July, so -- and the bald eagles, of course, are, as we have heard extensive evidence, not until September.  But that is the one-kilometre radius.

So outside of the one-kilometre radius where the bald eagle nests are located, we're talking about the earliest that Goldcorp can move is mid July.

And so I think when we asked the question of if this Board could -- and of course I can't commit the Board to make a decision in a certain amount of time, but if it was possible for the Board to decide on the section 92 prior to the end of July, I think much of what we have discussed today essentially goes away.

And I think by the evidence that I am reading in the material and even what we heard today, other than I'm certainly confused by the different answers we got on those questions, that it may be most efficient and most appropriate to just move as expeditiously as possible with the section 92, if the Board is inclined to grant that section 92.  At the end of the day, it will need to be conditional on the MNR permits, anyway, and that may be the bottleneck in the process, if you will, regardless of whether this motion is granted today or whether we wait for a section 92.

But at any rate, it may be that we can get an expedited section 92 out in time for the construction on the line to start, anyway, and with the provision that they could probably start construction on the TS prior to that.

Sorry, I paused to see if I was missing anything, but those are my submissions subject to any questions you may have.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Sebalj, setting aside the jurisdictional argument for the time being, assuming the Board did have jurisdiction, is it your view the Board could issue the interim order without it being conditional upon receiving the necessary environmental permits, or maybe if I were to put it the other way -- well, I will leave it at that and see how you answer that one.

MS. SEBALJ:  No.  The short answer is no.  I don't think -- I think if the Board was to find inherent jurisdiction in section 19 and section 21(7), for instance, which is not inconceivable, then that would have to be conditional on receipt of approvals for both class EAs, which, in and of itself, would mean that the MNR was satisfied with the First Nations' consultation.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So in other words, in any event, any relief that would be granted, either now or upon the conclusion of the section 92 application, would, by necessity, be conditional on the proponent also receiving the necessary approvals?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And on the jurisdictional matter, if we could -- I just have a question or two on section 98(1.1).

I have asked about it, and parties have -- you and Mr. Leitch have made submissions on it, 1.1.  And would another way of looking at it be that 1.1, which is the provision for granting of interim orders, is a special case of section 98, which isn't construction activity, but is around rights to enter land to do surveys, and I think in some measure goes to acquiring the information that is in fact necessary to prepare the section 92 application, and that that is a body of work, surveying and fixing sites, that is involved with -- in essentially preparing an application?  Whereas what the proponent is actually asking for is an interim leave to construct, to actually do construction.

It's not to do preparatory work or do work that would be necessary to prepare a section 92 application.  It is actually a totally different request.

MS. SEBALJ:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So my question is:  Isn't 98(1.1) sort of a special case for 98, and, therefore, yes, that may be the only basis upon which the Board could grant an interim order in respect of those activities listed in 98?  But could there be a whole other body of interim relief or interim orders that the Board might turn its mind to in respect to a section 92 application for the actual physical construction, or am I being too -- too arcane?

MS. SEBALJ:  No.  It is certainly one way of interpreting it, and you bring up a point which I was hoping to avoid, which is that when I read section 98(1), I was originally quite confused by the section, because I am not sure why a person who already has leave under this part would need to have this authority to enter onto the land to do such examinations and make such surveys in order to fix the site.

Having said that, I thought -- I suppose it might be that there are situations where, even after having leave, there is some dispute over entry on to the land by the applicant.  But putting that aside, because I had attempted to contrast these two sections and determine -- you know, try to get into the mind of the legislature, which is never a healthy exercise, but to answer your question, I don't think it is completely out of the realm of possibility that you could make that argument and suggest that this was for a very specific purpose, and that what Goldcorp is asking for is a very different purpose.

I don't -- and I don't think that that would be illegal.  The practicality of it, though, concerns -- would concern Board Staff, simply because it would set a precedent for applicants, as Mr. Leitch has mentioned, to come to the Board and ask to do things that may be potentially irreversible.

And I take Ms. Brooks' testimony -- absolutely, trees can be replanted, but in the meantime there is potentially an entire swath of corridor which has been completely deforested, and the replanting, obviously, is something that takes time.

So the potential -- I guess the potential consequence of making that argument is that you get applications to do damage that has potential environmental impacts prior to getting a section 92 leave.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But wouldn't that be an issue for, in this case, for example, for MNR to turn its mind to?  Why would our criteria for an interim order be any different than our criteria for a final order; i.e., price, reliability, and quality?

MS. SEBALJ:  I agree with that.  But then it begs the question, why bother with the interim order?  Why not just hear the whole case?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Sebalj, just on the point you raised of the, why someone would require authority after they have a leave.  The granting of a leave, what property rights come with that, if any?  In that, you know, we'll have a route, we have a, you know, a -- and we are looking at price, reliability, and quality of power.  We haven't necessarily heard land issues in that respect.

MS. SEBALJ:  Well, the practice certainly has been that you do, that the proponent is required to provide a route, and that the proponent is required to provide evidence of consultation with the landowners, and that in the case where an easement is required, that the -- under section 97, that the proponent is required to provide a form of easement, which needs to be approved by the Board.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So I think, you know, for example in Bruce to Milton, as you will be very aware, there was -- it was an extensive case involving the granting of rights, essentially.  Not the granting of rights, the approval of the methodology for acquiring the rights over the land in question.

And so I think inherent in that is the ability to go on to the land, to do -- I mean, it would be odd to suggest that you have leave to construct the land but you don't have the right to go on the land to construct it.

And so I think it is part of the inherent jurisdiction that -- you know, we could get into a philosophical argument about what that means for section 96(2), which doesn't mention landowner issues, but I think inherent in the Board's jurisdiction is the question of impact upon landowners.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Blue.

Further Submissions by Mr. Blue:

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Quesnelle -- sorry, different places, different practices.

Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, Ms. Sebalj has made an argument that is a bit of a surprise that I want to deal with.  I don't want to be jammed for time, but -- I won't be very long, but I may go past 4:30.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We do have a hard time on that, Mr. Blue.  We will take where we can, Mr. Blue.  We don't have a lot of latitude past 4:30, though, if you can keep that in mind.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  Let me try to -- as I say, I don't want to be jammed, and I may ask to adjourn my argument, but I start at a different point than Ms. Sebalj does.  I start with the fact that the Supreme Court of Canada has told us all that we must interpret all public statutes in a purposive manner.  That is, we should not unduly restrict the operation of powers that the legislature has provided by old technical statutory interpretation arguments.

Our own Legislation Act of Ontario says that our statutes must be read in a broad, liberal manner so as to best achieve the purpose for which the legislature intended.

Now, the legislature told the Board that it has objectives for regulation of electricity.  I am not going to read them.  But objective 1 is:
"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability, and quality of electricity service."


In Part 6, the legislature gave you broad powers with respect to transmission lines and distribution lines, and you must interpret those powers broadly.

The argument that Mr. Leitch and Ms. Sebalj are making to you is an old 18th-century argument called expressio unius est exclusio alterius.  The mention of something in one part of the statute and not mentioning it somewhere else assumes it was not meant to be mentioned somewhere else.

Those rules of interpretation really have fallen to the purposive interpretation, where the Supreme Court says, look at the whole of the act, look at the purpose of the act, and try to interpret your powers in a way to achieve those purposes.  That is our current approach to statutory interpretation.

Now, Ms. Sebalj and Mr. Leitch make the point that section 98 is the only right to enter land initially.  I have a different submission on section 98.  I say that section 98 originally was a section that was necessary because it derogates from common-law rights.

You cannot enter someone's property without that person's consent.  Section 98(1) was legislative authority to do that.  Item -- paragraph 1.1 was the fallback in the event that you had your construction crew and you were met at the door with a shotgun.  Then you could come, get an order from the Board, then you can show that to the OPP, and then you can get on the land.

The burden of section 99 is not early construction.  The burden is getting on land you don't own and you have not negotiated rights with in order to do what was necessary to prepare your application.  That is the effect.

Section 103 is of the same ilk.  It says, where there is an old power line or an old -- where there is an old power line that someone got a leave to construct or some earlier approval for, and you want to go in and repair it, the landowner has to let you in.  It is not -- the burden, or the purpose of that section is access to land that people don't want you to cross any more, not to what you can do early.  And this has nothing to do with doing anything early.  This is doing repairs on something already approved.

So I submit that section 99 and 103(1) don't in any way suggest that the legislature turn their minds to what one might do early.  It instead relates to getting access to land you do not own.  Now, Goldcorp doesn't have those problems.  Goldcorp owns its land, and MNR has said, You may have the land subject to the consultation issue.  We don't have any landowner issues.

So that brings me back to section 21(7), which Ms. Sebalj read and I will not repeat, but it is your power to make interim decisions and add conditions to them.

I submit you would be unduly limiting your broad discretion in electricity matters and the ability to regulate to restrict it as Ms. Sebalj and Mr. Leitch are suggesting.

Ms. Sebalj has said - and I totally agree - it allows you to make substantive orders.  It is allowed to be used in different applications.  A section 92 application is an application for leave to construct; as I have said, that this was a subsection of it.  I submit that you would be making no mistake to grant that substantive order.

I would want, before I made that submission to you that you couldn't do something, a decision of the Divisional Court or the Ontario Court of Appeal saying you could not do that.

Until you have such a decision, your job is to interpret your discretion broadly, apply it, to meet the goal of the Ontario Energy Board Act for electricity to enhance the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service.

That is what this application is all about.

Now, with respect to Mr. Leitch's cases, he made no -- he had no case submission on section 21(2).  But assuming he would make the same argument about 21(7), my submission is this.  There is no restriction in section 21(7) that says it is procedural only.

Also, you make rules of practice and procedure.  You have that right under section 23 of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.  If it was only procedural, why would you need the additional power?

You have to read it all together.  So I submit that you have that discretion.

Now, I also submit that section 16.1 of the SPPA also empowers you.  That allows you to give interim orders or decisions and with conditions and without reasons.

And Mr. Leitch gave you the Arzem case.  I agree that the Arzem case said that section 16.1 is procedural, but in Arzem, parents of autistic children were seeking financial aid and said it was contrary to their human rights not to get it.

The Ontario government said, You can't say that, because the Human Rights Act doesn't apply to anyone under 18.

The parents wanted to argue that the statutory age limit was contrary to the Charter.  Ontario sought a preliminary order under 16.1 essentially staying the action.

So what our Government of Ontario was doing was really trying to strangle the baby in the cradle so that issue wouldn't even get to be heard.

The Human Rights member said, No, our process is to bring all of these disputes and hear them.

Now, they said they were not going to make the interim order under section 16.1, but they easily have said, We're not going to grant that relief.  We will reserve our decision on it until the end of the case.

But he said what he said.  But he is only one member of the Human Rights Commission.

I have two decisions of the Labour Relations Board where the Labour Relations Board did this.  Somebody is fired, so they grieve it and they bring a proceeding before the Board, and the first thing the union did was ask the Board to reinstate the person while we debate this; in other words, take away the whole action.

And the Board granted those orders routinely under section 16.1 and under section 89 of the Labour Relations Board Act.

The Harris government withdrew the provision in the Labour Relations Act allowing the Board to do that, but the 2004 decision of the Labour Relations Board said, We can still do it under 16.1.  It's not procedural, because it doesn't say procedure.  It is not -- and besides, if it was procedural, why would we need to have rules of practice and procedure?

So there is, yes, one decision of a Human Rights Commission member, two decisions of the Labour Relations Board, and I have one Divisional Court decision, if I can find it, which I will hand up.

I don't expect you to read it.  I have highlighted the relevant provisions.

This is the Yasdanfar case.  In this case, the College of Physicians and Surgeons started a proceeding against Dr. Yasdanfar to withdraw her licence.

And at the beginning, it made a decision that her conduct, prima facie, was so bad they were going to suspend her from practice right then before they had the hearing to decide whether she should be suspended from practice.

That order was appealed to the Divisional Court, and the Divisional Court said section 16 of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act may make interim orders, and they found the decision acceptable.

Well, if the Divisional Court says 16.1 is wide enough to completely grant the result of the hearing before the result of the proceeding, before you hold the hearing, then 16.1 is wide enough to have you make the interim order.  Those are my submissions on 16.1.

With respect to Ms. Sebalj's helpful suggestion that we just -- the Board just say, We are not authorizing you to go ahead, but -- and leaving it to Goldcorp to go ahead and do the work, the civil work, on the Balmer Complex transformer station, my submission is that is not good public administration.

If you did that, we could certainly do the work there, but we would want -- we would want something from the Ontario Energy Board to protect us if someone sought to prosecute us for violating the Ontario Energy Board Act.  We would have to have that.

With respect to the power line proposal itself, we asked for leave.  Yes, we will not construct until -- when we brought the motion initially, there was still construction time in May.  There isn't -- no we will not -- but at the present time, we will not construct until the beginning of April on the right of way, but we want the order, anyway, because if you don't give it to us, then you have effectively handed a veto to Lac Seul First Nations, because they will say to MNR they're not happy with our consultation.  They can hold us up indefinitely.

With an order from the Board, subject to that approval, then one square on the checkerboard has been completed.  You used the checkerboard analogy in the Yellow Falls decision, and we can use that for whatever argument it provides when we deal with MNR.

And if you wait for them and they wait for you, no power line facilities are going to get built.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So, Mr. Blue, on that point, if this Board in its decision articulated its view that it has the jurisdiction - let's go there for a moment - and granted the interim relief, but was clear that the issues that are outstanding, as far as the MNR are concerned, may still be outstanding, the Board has not weighed in or opined on those issues.

And to the extent that the MNR has voiced its concerns over certain consultation issues, why would you think that they would go away or that there would be a balance of power shifted to Lac Seul, in that it is still MNR that has to be satisfied that things can go forward for the work permits?

MR. BLUE:  The government has shown a great reluctance to -- in these matters, to press anybody, and you are right we may have that difficulty.

But with one approval in hand, if the Board were disposed to grant it, it would allow us to -- it would allow us to go forward and do those negotiations with another piece of the puzzle complete.  That might be material to MNR, as Ms. Brooks has testified.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But Mr. Blue, speaking about the clearing and grubbing, if it couldn't begin until August 1st anyway, is it particularly good public policy to be granting an interim order at the beginning of June, which we know couldn't be acted upon until the beginning of August in any event?  Bearing in mind that the proceeding as a whole may be completed by that time?

MR. BLUE:  I submit it is, because it is part of the whole piece, including the Balmer complex transformer station.  We would have to talk to MNR about what we could do in the interim, in view of the need to have the power line in place.  My submission is it would be helpful to go Goldcorp and it would be helpful to getting this project in place by Q4 2011.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And is it your understanding that any interim relief we might grant Goldcorp would continue -- would have to be conditional on also achieving -- also acquiring the necessary permits from MNR?

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  I think I said that in my argument-in-chief.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BLUE:  I don't know if I really need to deal with this point, but Mr. Leitch said that there were alternatives, and I just direct the Board's attention to our application, where we canvass those alternatives in detail.  This is in Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, and it showed why none of those would meet the needs of Goldcorp by Quarter 42011.

I am at 4:30.  Mr. Leitch's argument on Section 16.1, he read you the Greenspace Alliance of Canada Capital v. Ontario Ministry of the Environment, and I commend you read Section 23, which reads -- this is the Board making its finding:
"While the parties made extensive submissions on the proper interpretation of Section 16.1 of the SPPA and Part 2 of the Environmental Bill of Rights, the tribunal finds the case turns on the proper interpretation of Section 121(s) of the EBR, and for this reason it is not necessary for the tribunal to make findings with respect to the other submissions."

So this case didn't deal with Section 16.1 at all.

Let me just check...

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the Board.  29 to 5:00.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I have a question about the undertaking response that you provided us.  My copy, it is cut off.  And so could you tell me, what is the last column?  "Time to receive from..."

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we clarify on the record now, but if a --


MR. BLUE:  Yes, it is --


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- (inaudible) copy could be supplied, that would be great.

MR. BLUE:  -- it is "time to receive" -- "time to receive from request for mediation".

MS. HARE:  And have those permits already been applied for?  I am seeing Ms. Brooks is saying, no, they haven't been applied for.  So doesn't that mean that if some of them take three months or more, that August 1st is out of the question anyway?

MR. BLUE:  Well, no.  The Navigable Waters Protection Act approval applies to the crossing of the river.  We can do that as late as December.  That is two special towers, and stringing it across.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, thank you very much for the witness panels, for your testimony today, and for the able submissions of the parties.

The Board will obviously reserve on this, and we will get a decision out as -- we recognize the urgency that has been required, and we will put our attention to it and get something out as soon as practical.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:32 p.m.
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